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As of 1 January 2022, the impact on equity of the application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 and the different 

amendments to other standards is -EUR 553 million.  This impact is -EUR 18 million regarding the 

transition from IAS 39 to IFRS 9 and -EUR 534 million regarding the transition from IFRS 4 to IFRS 17, 

including the impact of amendments to other standards applied at the same time (IAS 40, IAS 16). 
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As of 31 December 2023, EUR 14 million of cash and equivalent are reclassified in the balance sheet as non-

current assets held for sale compared to EUR 61 million as of 31 December 2022. 
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NOTE 1 

 NORMATIVE ENVIRONMENT 

 

In accordance with Regulation EC No. 1606/2002, BNP Paribas Cardif Group's consolidated financial 

statements have been prepared in accordance with the IAS/IFRS and IFRIC interpretations applicable 

as of 31 December 2023 as adopted by the European Union. These standards are available on the 

European Commission website(1). 

The financial statements were approved by the Board of directors on 28 March 2024. 

 

For the first time application of IFRS to prepare its consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 

2017, BNP Paribas Cardif group chose the IFRS 1 option to maintain the valuations already used in the 

context of IFRS reporting for BNP Paribas Group, insofar as they are compatible with the preparation of 

consolidated financial statements at its sub-group insurance level. 

 

 

 

Since 1 January 2023, BNP Paribas Cardif has applied IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts” published in May 

2017, amended in June 2020 and adopted by the European Union in November 2021, including the 

exemption provided for in Article 2 of regulation 2021/2036 of the European Commission regarding 

annual cohorts. This annual cohort exemption applies to profit-sharing contracts based on 

intergenerational pooling of returns on underlying assets backing the insurance liabilities. 

The transition date for IFRS 17 is 1 January 2022 for the purposes of the opening balance sheet of the 

comparative period required by the standard. 

Having deferred the application of IFRS 9 until the entry into force of IFRS 17, BNP Paribas Cardif group 

applies this standard from 1 January 2023. 

In addition, the entry into force of IFRS 17 brings into effect various amendments to other standards, 

including IAS 1 for presentation, IAS 16 and IAS 40 for the valuation and presentation of real estate 

assets, IAS 28 for exemptions from the equity method. 

Finally, the amendment to IFRS 17 “Initial application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 – Comparative information” 

published by the IASB in December 2021 and adopted by the European Union on 9 September 2022 

 

(1) https://ec.europa.eu/info/business-economy-euro/company-reporting-and-auditing/company-reporting_en 
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allows insurance companies applying IFRS 9 and IFRS 17 for the first time simultaneously to present 

2022 comparative data as if IFRS 9 was already applied, using an “overlay” approach. The group applied 

this optional approach for all financial instruments, including those derecognised in 2022, for both 

classification and measurement purposes. 

 

  

The transition from IFRS 4 to IFRS 17 resulted in the offsetting in equity of the assets and liabilities of 

insurance contracts recognised in accordance with the previous standard net of deferred taxes effects: 

insurance liabilities and reinsurance assets held, deferred policyholders’ participation arising from 

“shadow accounting” and intangible assets specific to insurance contracts when recognised. 

Receivables and liabilities related to insurance or reinsurance contracts were not cancelled but are now 

included in the new valuation of insurance asset and liabilities. 

IFRS 17 applies retroactively to all contracts outstanding at the transition date, i.e. 1 January 2022 due 

to the mandatory comparative period. Three transition methods may be used: a full retrospective 

approach and, if this cannot be implemented, a modified retrospective approach or an approach based 

on the market or model value of the contracts at the transition date. 

The BNP Paribas Cardif group applied the modified retrospective approach and, more marginally, for 

some portfolios, an approach based on the market or model value of contracts at the transition date. In 

fact, all the necessary information was not available or was not sufficiently granular, in particular due to 

systems migration and data retention requirements, to allow a full retrospective approach. In addition, 

the full retrospective approach would have required the reconstruction of what would have been the 

assumptions or intentions of management in previous periods. 

The objective of the modified retrospective approach is to achieve a result that is as close as possible 

to the result that would have been obtained by the retrospective application of the standard, based on 

reasonable and justifiable information that can be obtained without incurring excessive costs or effort.  

Thus, the modified retrospective approach has been applied to the majority of the existing contract 

portfolios, both in Protection and in Life/Savings, according to the principles below. 

 

For Protection contracts valued according to the general model, the principle of the modified 

retrospective approach consists in reconstituting liabilities at the initial recognition date based on their 

valuation at the transition date, by retroactively reconstituting movements between the two dates with 

simplifications: 

▪ cash flows at inception were estimated by adding the actual cash flows recorded between the 

two dates, to the amount at the transition date; 

▪ the original discount rates were determined with yield curves simulating those at the date of 

first recognition; 

▪ the changes in the adjustment for non-financial risk between the inception date and the 

transition date were estimated based on release patterns observed on similar contracts. 

For liabilities representing the remaining coverage that are reconstituted in this way at the inception date, 

the contractual service margin at inception (if any), less any acquisition costs paid in the interim period, 

is amortised based on the services provided in the period prior to the transition, in order to determine 

the amount of the remaining contractual service margin at that date, less any remaining acquisition costs. 
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When contracts are grouped into a single group on the transition date, the discount rate on that date or 

an average rate can be used. 

The effect of the change in the discount rate on liabilities is recognised in  profit or loss, unless the option 

to split financial changes between profit or loss and equity is retained. Choosing this option requires the 

amount carried in equity at the transition date to be recalculated from the inception rate for the liability 

representing the remaining coverage and from the rate at the date of claims occurrence for the liability 

representing incurred claims. Where such reconstitution is not possible, the amount shown in equity is 

zero. 

For the purposes of this reconstitution, the simplifications mainly covered the following: 

▪ the reconstitution of the annual cohorts or consolidation into a single group of contracts at the 

transition date according to available data; 

▪ the reconstitution of fulfilment cash flows and unamortised acquisition costs; 

▪ the release of the risk adjustment between the date of issuance of the contracts and the 

transition date; 

▪ the discount rates (the rate at inception in the case of a reconstitution by annual cohorts or an 

average rate in the case of a consolidation into a single group of contracts at the transition 

date); 

▪ the amount transferred to  equity that may be reclassified to profit or loss at the transition date 

in respect of changes in the discount rate, that was reconstituted based on historical rates or 

reset to zero if such a reconstitution is not achievable. 

 

For Protection contracts valued according to the simplified method, the reserves for remaining 

coverage were generally determined at transition from the previous reserves for unearned premiums, 

net of acquisition costs. The incurred claims reserves arising from these contracts consist of expected 

cash flows and risk adjustments for non-financial risks at the transition date. When cash flows were 

discounted and for portfolios for which the disaggregation option of financial changes between profit or 

loss and  equity was chosen, the amount carried in equity that may be reclassified to profit or loss at the 

transition date in relation to changes in the discount rate was reconstituted based on the historical rates 

or set to zero if such a reconstitution was not achievable. 

 

For Life/Savings contracts valued under the variable fee approach, the modified retrospective 

approach also consists in reconstituting the liability at the inception date, starting from the liability at the 

transition date. However, for these contracts, the standard provides that the contractual services margin 

at the transition date is determined using the following approach: 

▪ the fair value of the underlying assets at the transition date was first reduced by the fulfilment 

cash flows (discounted cash flows and risk adjustment) at that date; 

▪ to this amount were added the income received from the policyholders and changes in the risk 

adjustment, less the acquisition cashflows paid during the interim period; 

▪ the contractual service margin net of the acquisition costs initially reconstituted was then 

amortised until the transition date to reflect the services provided to that date, as well as the 

remaining acquisition costs. 

The main simplifications in implementing this approach were as follows: 
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▪ existing contracts were grouped according to the planned post-transition segmentation, 

without a breakdown in annual cohorts, in line with the election of the exemption provided for 

by the European regulation; 

▪ for general funds common to participating and non-participating contracts and to equity, the 

underlying assets were defined on the basis of the breakdown used to calculate policyholders’ 

profit-sharing; 

▪ the contractual services margin at the transition date was reconstituted: 

o based on the fair value of the underlying assets less fulfilment cash flows at the transition 

date; 

o by adding the historical margins which were rolled over up to the transition date, using the 

same approach as that to be used after the transition, taking into account the “over-

performance” on assets, and; 

o deducting any remaining acquisition costs; 

▪ the amount recorded in equity that may be reclassified to profit or loss at the transition date 

as an adjustment for accounting mismatches was determined using the fair value of the 

underlying assets recognised in equity at the transition date. 

Finally, under the fair value method, the contractual service margin at the transition date was determined 

as the difference at the transition date between the fair value determined without taking into account the 

amount payable on demand and the fulfilment cash flows. This approach was used on some non-

material portfolios when the modified retrospective approach could not be implemented. For these 

portfolios, the fair value was estimated based on a Solvency 2 valuation and, in the case of a recent 

business combination dating from 2018, based on the amount allocated to the contracts during the 

acquisition price allocation process. 

 

  to  

The financial assets and liabilities of insurance companies are managed by portfolios corresponding to 

the insurance liabilities they back or to the equity. The business models were therefore determined 

according to these portfolios at the date of transition to IFRS 9. 

In accordance with the business model and cash flow criteria, debt instruments are largely classified 

according to the “hold to collect and sale” model, with the exception of those representing unit-linked 

contracts and debt instruments held by consolidated mutual funds and managed at net asset value, 

which are classified at fair value through profit or loss. Certain specific assets are optionally valued at 

fair value through profit or loss. 

The majority of equity instruments are valued at fair value through profit or loss, except for certain assets 

in the portfolios backing equity and non-participating contracts, which are valued at fair value through 

equity on option.  

Non-consolidated funds classified as available-for-sale financial assets under IAS 39 have been 

reclassified at fair value through profit or loss.  

The treatment of derivatives remains unchanged, including for hedge accounting for which the rules of 

IAS 39 have been maintained by the BNP Paribas Group and by BNP Paribas Cardif. 
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BNP Paribas Cardif group also applied the changes in IAS 40 and IAS 16 resulting from IFRS 17, leading 

to the measurement of property held as underlying assets of direct profit-sharing contracts at fair value 

through profit or loss.  

Business combinations (including goodwill) prior to the transition date were not modified except for the 

cancellation of specific intangible assets under IFRS 4. 

BNP Paribas Cardif applies the exemption provided for in paragraph 18 of IAS 28 when a significant 

influence is held as an underlying element of direct profit-sharing insurance contracts or investment 

contracts with discretionary profit-sharing. This profit-sharing is measured at fair value through profit or 

loss in accordance with IFRS 9. 

Further to the Pillar II recommendations of the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development 

(OECD) in relation to the international tax reform, the European Union adopted on 14 December 2022 

the 2022/2523 directive instituting a minimum corporate income tax for international groups, effective 1 

January 2024. 

To clarify the directive’s potential impacts, the IASB issued on 23 May 2023 a series of amendments to 

IAS 12 “Income Taxes”, which were adopted by the European Union on 8 November 2023. In 

accordance with the provisions of these amendments, the Group BNP Paribas, of which BNP Paribas 

Cardif is a member, applies the mandatory and temporary exception not to recognise deferred taxes 

associated with this additional taxation. 

As a reminder, the additional tax will be determined at the level of the BNP Paribas Group, jurisdiction 

by jurisdiction. The Pillar II project is therefore carried out at the Group’s top level and BNP Paribas 

Cardif contributes to this project. 

Based on the available information, the impact of the Pillar II reform is expected to be non-material for 

the BNP Paribas Group once adopted.  

 

These amendments clarify how entities must account for deferred taxes on transactions such as leases 

and decommissioning obligations. They enter into force for reporting periods after 1 January 2023, and 

apply to the relevant transactions occurring from the opening date of the first comparative year 

presented. These amendments had no significant effect.  

In France, changes resulting from the pension reform enacted on 14 April 2023 constitute a change in 

post-employment benefits, based on IAS 19 § 104. The non-material impact of this change was 

recognised in the income statement for the period. 
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These amendments aim to facilitate the distinction between a change in accounting methods and a 

change in accounting estimates. They shall apply prospectively from financial years beginning on 1 

January 2023, with the possibility of early application. 

 

The entry into force of the other mandatory standards, amendments, and interpretations as from 1 

January 2023 did not affect the financial statements for the 2023 financial year. 

BNP Paribas Cardif group did not anticipate the application of the new standards, amendments and 

interpretations adopted by the European Union when the application in 2023 is optional. 

 

These amendments clarify, without changing the existing requirements, the principles for classifying a 

liability on the balance sheet as current or non-current.  

They are applicable from financial years beginning on 1 January 2024 with the possibility of early 

application. BNP Paribas Cardif does not expect to be impacted by these amendments. 
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 CONSOLIDATION PRINCIPLES AND METHODS 

 

The consolidated financial statements of BNP Paribas Cardif group include entities that are controlled 

by the group, jointly controlled and under significant influence, with the exception of those entities whose 

consolidation is regarded as immaterial to BNP Paribas Cardif group. Companies that hold shares in 

consolidated companies are also consolidated. 

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which BNP Paribas Cardif group obtains effective control. 

Companies under temporary control are included in the consolidated financial statements until the date 

of disposal. 

For transactions resulting in a loss of control, any equity interest retained by the group is remeasured at 

its fair value through profit or loss. 

Profits and losses from sales of equity interests are recorded in the income statement under “Other non-

current operating income and expenses”. 

 

Companies controlled by BNP Paribas Cardif group are fully consolidated. The group controls a 

subsidiary when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and 

can affect those returns through its power over the entity. 

For entities governed by voting rights, the group generally controls the entity if it holds, directly or 

indirectly, the majority of the voting rights (and if there are no contractual provisions that alter the power 

of these voting rights) or if the power to direct the relevant activities of the entity is conferred on it by 

contractual agreements. 

Structured entities are defined as entities that are not governed by voting rights, such as when those 

voting rights relate to administrative tasks only, whereas the relevant activities are directed by means of 

contractual arrangements. They often have the following features or attributes: restricted activities, a 

narrow and well-defined objective and insufficient equity to enable them to finance their activities without 

subordinated financial support. 
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For these entities, the analysis of control shall consider the original purpose of the entity, the risks to 

which the entity is designed to be exposed and to what extent BNP Paribas Cardif group absorbs the 

related variability. The assessment of control shall consider all facts and circumstances able to 

determine BNP Paribas Cardif group’s practical ability to make decisions that could significantly affect 

its returns, even if such decisions are contingent on uncertain future events or circumstances. 

In assessing whether it has control, BNP Paribas Cardif group considers only substantive rights that it 

holds or which are held by third parties. For a right to be substantive, the holder must have the practical 

ability to exercise that right when decisions about the relevant activities of the entity need to be taken. 

Where BNP Paribas Cardif group contractually holds the decision-making power, for instance where 

BNP Paribas Cardif group acts as fund manager, it shall determine whether it is acting as agent or 

principal. Indeed, when associated with a certain level of exposure to the variability of returns, this 

decision-making power may indicate that the group is acting on its own account and that it thus has 

control over those entities. 

Control shall be reassessed if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more 

of the elements of control. 

In the full consolidation method, the assets and liabilities of the consolidated company form an integral 

part of the assets and liabilities of BNP Paribas Cardif group, whereas the share of equity not directly or 

indirectly attributable to the parent company, called “non-controlling interests” or “minority interests”, is 

handled separately. 

The calculation of these minority interests takes into account the outstanding cumulative preferred 

shares classified as equity instruments issued by subsidiaries, when such shares are held outside BNP 

Paribas Cardif group. 

Minority interests are presented separately in the consolidated income statement and balance sheet 

within consolidated shareholders’ equity. 

For transactions resulting in a loss of control, any equity interest retained by the Group is remeasured 

at its fair value through profit or loss. 

Whenever BNP Paribas Cardif group carries out an activity with one or more partners sharing control 

by virtue of a contractual agreement, which requires unanimous consent on relevant activities (those 

that significantly affect the entity’s return), BNP Paribas Cardif group exercises joint control over the 

activity. 

Where the jointly controlled activity is structured through a separate vehicle in which the partners have 

rights to the net assets, this joint venture is consolidated using the equity method applied to companies 

over which the group exercises significant influence. 

Where the jointly controlled activity is not structured through a separate vehicle or where the partners 

have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities of the jointly controlled activity, BNP Paribas 
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Cardif group accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses in accordance with 

the applicable IFRS. 

For first consolidation as of 30 June 2018 of the real estate entities under joint control, BNP Paribas 

Cardif group elected to use the option to measure at fair value an interest in an associate held directly 

or indirectly through an entity that is a mutual fund, an open-ended investment company or a similar 

entity such as an investment-related insurance fund. An example of such a fund is a fund held by the 

group as an underlying component of a group of direct profit-sharing investment or insurance contracts. 

Companies under significant influence, known as associates, are accounted for by the equity method.  

Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of a 

company without exercising control. Significant influence is presumed to exist when BNP Paribas Cardif 

group holds, directly or indirectly, 20% or more of the voting rights of a company. 

Investments below this threshold are excluded from consolidation unless they represent a strategic 

investment and BNP Paribas Cardif group effectively exercises significant influence. This applies to 

companies developed in partnership with other groups, where BNP Paribas Cardif group participates in 

strategic decisions of the enterprise through representation on the Board of directors or equivalent 

governing body, exercises influence over the enterprise’s operational management by supplying 

management systems or senior managers or provides technical assistance to support the enterprise’s 

development.  

Changes in the equity of companies accounted for under the equity method are recognised in balance 

sheet assets under “equity-method investments" and in the relevant component of shareholders’ equity 

in the balance sheet liabilities. Goodwill on companies accounted for under the equity method is also 

included under “equity-method investments”.  

Whenever there is an indication of impairment, the carrying amount of the equity-method investment 

(including goodwill) is tested for impairment. During this test, the recoverable amount of the equity-

method company (equal to the greater of the value in use and the fair value net of disposal costs) is 

compared to its carrying amount. Where appropriate, impairment is recognised under “Share of earnings 

of equity-method entities” in the consolidated income statement and can be reversed later. 

If the group’s share of the losses of an equity-method entity equals or exceeds the carrying amount of 

its investment in this entity, the group discontinues including its share of further losses. The investment 

is reported at nil value. Additional losses of the equity-method entity are provided for only to the extent 

that BNP Paribas Cardif group has a legal or constructive obligation to do so, or has made payments 

on behalf of this entity. 

For first consolidation as of 30 June 2018 of the real estate entities under significant influence, BNP 

Paribas Cardif group elected to use the option to measure at fair value an interest in an associate held 

directly or indirectly through an entity that is a mutual fund, an open-ended investment company or a 

similar entity such as an investment-related insurance fund. An example of such a fund is a fund held 

by the group as an underlying component of a group of direct profit-sharing investment or insurance 

contracts. 
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For the purposes of their financial management activity, insurance companies are required to invest in 

entities that correspond economically to investment entities such as mutual funds, other vehicules for 

collective investments in securities and real estate companies or funds. 

Regarding fully consolidated funds, units held by third-party investors are recognised as debts at fair 

value through profit or loss, as long as they are redeemable at market value at the subscriber’s initiative. 

Real estate investment companies (SCIs) and mutual funds consolidated under the equity method are 

reclassified as insurance activity investments. 

Entities under significant influence or under joint control assessed at realisable value are recognised on 

the balance sheet under "Financial investments at fair value through profit or loss”. 

 

BNP Paribas Cardif group is part of the scope of consolidation of BNP Paribas Group. 

In accordance with IFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial Statements” and given the first-time application 

option selected, BNP Paribas Cardif group’s consolidated financial statements are prepared in 

accordance with international accounting standards using accounting methods that are consistent with 

those applied by BNP Paribas Group for transactions and other similar events occurring under similar 

circumstances. 

 

Intragroup balances arising from transactions between consolidated enterprises, and the transactions 

themselves (including income, expenses and dividends), are eliminated. 

Profits and losses arising from intragroup sales of assets are eliminated, except where there is an 

indication that the asset sold is impaired.  

Unrealised gains and losses included in the value of assets measured at fair value through  equity are 

maintained in the consolidated financial statements. 

 

Exchange rate adjustments 

The consolidated financial statements of BNP Paribas Cardif group are prepared in euros. 

The financial statements of enterprises whose functional currency is not the euro are converted using 

the closing rate method. Under this method, all assets and liabilities, both monetary and non-monetary, 

are converted using the spot exchange rate at the closing date. Income and expense items are 

converted at the average exchange rate over the period. The same method is applied to the financial 

statements of group subsidiaries located in hyperinflationary economies, after adjusting for the effects 

of inflation by applying a general price index, if this is significant. 
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Differences arising from the conversion of balance sheet items and profit or loss items are recorded in 

shareholders’ equity under "Changes in assets and liabilities recognised directly in equity" for the portion 

attributable to shareholders, and in “Minority interests” for the portion attributable to third-party investors. 

Should the liquidation or disposal of some or all of an interest held in a foreign entity located outside the 

Euro zone lead to a change in the nature of the investment (loss of control, loss of significant influence 

or loss of joint control without keeping a significant influence), the cumulative translation adjustment at 

the date of liquidation or sale is recognised in the income statement. 

Should the percentage interest held change without any modification in the nature of the investment, 

the conversion adjustment is reallocated between the portion attributable to shareholders and that 

attributable to minority interests pro-rata to the percentage of the share capital held, if the company is 

fully consolidated. 

For entities consolidated under the equity method, the conversion adjustment is recognised in the 

income statement for the portion related to the percentage interest sold. 

In March 2017, the IFRS Interpretation Committee ("IFRS IC", formerly IFRIC) provisionally decided that 

it would not be appropriate to create an exception to IFRS 1 to allow a subsidiary that moves to IFRS 

after its parent company to retain the foreign currency translation reserve shown in the financial 

statements of its parent company for its own financial statements.  

Following this decision, BNP Paribas Cardif Group, having adopted the option offered by IFRS 1 for the 

preparation of its first consolidated financial statements under IFRS at 31 December 2017, has reset to 

zero in the opening balance sheet of 1 January 2016 the conversion reserves which existed at BNP 

Paribas Group level. Because of this option, the gain or loss recorded on the subsequent disposal of 

foreign operations will include the conversion differences after the date of transition to IFRS but will 

exclude the prior conversion differences. 

 

Application of IAS 29 

IAS 29 sets out the presentation of the accounts of consolidated subsidiaries located in countries whose 

economies are in hyperinflation. 

BNP Paribas Cardif has applied these provisions for its subsidiary in Turkey since 1 January 2022. 

However, the impact on the entities in Argentina was deemed immaterial at 31 December 2023, as they 

were sold at the end of the year. IAS 29 presents several quantitative and qualitative criteria to assess 

whether an economy is hyperinflationary, including a cumulative, three-year inflation rate approaching 

or exceeding 100%. 

All non-monetary assets and liabilities, including equity, of subsidiaries in hyperinflationary countries 

and each line of the income statement have been restated based on changes in the Consumer Price 

Index (CPI). This restatement between 1 January and the closing date results in the recognition of a 

gain or loss in its net monetary situation, recognised under “Net gain on non-current assets”. Financial 

statements of these subsidiaries are translated into euros at the closing rate. 

In accordance with the provisions of the IFRIC’s decision of March 2020 on classifying the effects of 

indexation and translation of financial statements of subsidiaries in hyperinflationary economies, the 

group has opted to present these effects (including the net position at the date of the initial application 

of IAS 29) within changes in assets and liabilities recognised directly through equity related to exchange 

differences. 
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Since BNP Paribas Cardif group chose the IFRS 1 option to maintain the valuations already used in the 

context of IFRS reporting to BNP Paribas Group provided that they are compatible with the preparation 

of consolidated financial statements at the level of its sub-group, business combinations that occurred 

before the date of BNP Paribas Cardif's transition to IFRS were kept at their value in BNP Paribas 

Group’s financial statements. 

Acquisition method 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method.  

Under this method, the acquiree’s identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are measured at 

the fair value (or its equivalent) at the acquisition date.  

As an exception, non-current assets classified as assets held for sale are recognised at fair value less 

costs to sell. 

The acquiree's contingent liabilities are recognised in the consolidated balance sheet only if they 

represent a current obligation on the acquisition date and their fair value can be measured reliably. 

Acquisition cost 

The acquisition cost of a business combination is the fair value or its equivalent , at the date of exchange, 

of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued to obtain control of the 

acquiree. 

Costs directly attributable to the acquisition 

Costs directly attributable to the business combination are treated as a separate transaction and 

recognised through profit or loss. 

Contingent consideration 

Any additional price is included in the acquisition cost, as soon as control is obtained, at fair value on 

the date when control was acquired. Subsequent changes in the value of any contingent consideration 

recognised as a financial liability are recognised through profit or loss. 

Business combinations achieved in stages 

On the acquisition date, any previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured at its fair value 

through profit or loss. 

If a business combination is achieved through more than one exchange transaction (acquisition in 

stages), the identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquiree are revalued at fair value at the effective 

date of control. 
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The Group has twelve months after the acquisition date to finalise the recognition of the considered 

business combination. 

 GOODWILL AND GOODWILL IMPAIRMENT 

 

Goodwill represents the difference between the acquisition cost and the Group's interest in the fair value 

of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired, such fair value being determined at the effective date 

of control. 

At this date, goodwill is recognised in the acquirer’s balance sheet if positive, or if negative, it is 

recognised immediately through profit or loss. 

Goodwill is recognised in the functional currency of the acquiree and then converted at the closing 

exchange rate. 

Minority interests correspond to the portion of the revalued net assets of the acquiree that does not 

belong to the Group. 

BNP Paribas Cardif group did not choose the option to value minority interests at fair value, with a 

portion of the goodwill thus determined being allocated to minority interests (the so-called "full goodwill" 

method). 

However, like BNP Paribas Group, BNP Paribas Cardif group can also choose, for each business 

combination, to measure minority interests at their fair value. A fraction of the goodwill thus determined 

is then allocated to them. 

Goodwill determined in business combinations prior to the effective date of IFRS 17 was not restated 

since the contracts acquired were already measured at fair or model value using a non-offset 

presentation authorised by IFRS 4. 

 

BNP Paribas Cardif group regularly conducts impairment tests on goodwill allocated to each cash-

generating unit. 

The group has split all its activities into cash-generating units representing major business lines, which 

correspond in practice to geographic regions. 

This split is consistent with the group’s organisational structure and management methods and reflects 

the independence of each unit in terms of results and management approach. 

The organisation is regularly reviewed to take account of events likely to affect the composition of cash-

generating units, such as acquisitions, disposals and major reorganisations. 
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Tests to ensure that the goodwill allocated to all cash-generating units is not impacted by lasting 

impairments are carried out whenever there is an indication that a unit may be impaired, and at least 

once a year. 

The carrying amount of the unit is compared with its recoverable amount. If the recoverable amount is 

less than the carrying amount, an irreversible impairment loss is recognised. This impairment is equal 

to the difference between the carrying amount and the recoverable amount of the relevant cash-

generating unit.  

The recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit is the higher of the fair value of the unit less costs to 

sell, and its value in use. 

The fair value corresponds to the amount likely to be obtained from the sale of the cash-generating units 

under the market conditions prevailing at the valuation date. Market references are generally either 

based on the prices observed during recent transactions on comparable entities or based on market 

multiples of comparable listed companies. 

Value in use is based on an estimate of the future cash flows to be generated by the cash-generating 

unit, derived from the annual forecasts prepared by the unit’s management and approved by Group 

Executive Management, and from analyses of changes in the relative positioning of the unit’s activities 

on their market. These cash flows are discounted at a rate that reflects the return that investors would 

require from an investment in the business sector and region involved. 

 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Fixed assets included in BNP Paribas Cardif Group’s balance sheet include property, plant and 

equipment (including operating properties) and intangible operating assets used for administrative 

purposes or for the production of services.  

 

Fixed assets are initially recognised at purchase price plus directly attributable costs, together with 

borrowing costs where a long period of construction or adaptation is required before the asset can be 

brought into service. 

Software 

Software developed internally that fulfils the criteria for capitalisation is capitalised at direct development 

cost, which includes external expenses and the labour costs of employees directly attributable to the 

project. 

Expenditures that are considered as upgrading the software or extending its useful life are included in 

the initial acquisition or development cost. 
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However, software maintenance costs are not capitalised and are recognised in the income statement 

when incurred. 

Exclusive distribution agreements  

The value of an exclusive distribution agreement represents the value of expected future flows of new 

business within the network of a partner covered by that agreement. These intangible assets are 

measured according to the terms and conditions specific to each distribution agreement. 

 

At the closing date, fixed assets are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation or amortisation 

and any impairment losses recognised. 

The depreciable amount of property, plant and equipment or the amortisable amount of an intangible 

asset is calculated after deducting the residual value of the asset.  

Only assets given for simple lease are deemed to have a residual value, as the useful life of assets used 

in operations is generally the same as their economic life.  

Fixed assets are depreciated or amortised using the straight-line method over the useful life of the asset.  

Amortisation and depreciation expenses are recognised in the income statement as charges by type 

according to their use.  

Where an asset consists of different components, which may require replacement at regular intervals, 

or which have different uses or generate economic benefits at different rates, each component is 

recognised separately and depreciated using a method appropriate to that component. 

Software is amortised depending on its type, over a period of no more than 8 years for infrastructure 

developments and over a 3 or 5 year period for software developed primarily for customer services. 

Exclusive distribution agreements are amortized using the following rules: 

▪ Under the rule in force at BNP Paribas Group level, straight-line amortisation is first calculated 

over the life of the exclusivity, taking into account any residual value; 

▪ Where these distribution agreements relate to the sale of insurance contracts, the annual 

amortisation is reclassified within the acquisition costs of the contracts underwritten over the 

period. This amount is thus amortised using the rules applicable to acquisition costs over the 

coverage period of the relevant contracts. 

Non-depreciable/non-amortisable assets are tested for impairment at least annually, using the same 

method as for goodwill allocated to cash-generating units. 

Depreciable property, plant and equipment and amortisable intangible assets are tested for impairment 

if there is an indication of potential impairment at the closing date. 
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If there is an indication of impairment, the new recoverable amount of the asset is compared with the 

carrying amount. 

If the asset is found to be impaired, an impairment loss is recognised in the income statement as 

corresponding expenses in the fixed asset category. 

This loss is reversed in the event of a change in the estimated recoverable amount or if there is no 

longer an indication of impairment. 

 

Gains or losses on disposals of operating assets are recorded in the income statement under “Other 

current operating income and expenses”. 

 

Operating properties are recognised as investment properties measured at amortised cost. 

In accordance with the recommendation of the Conseil National de la Comptabilité (National Accounting 

Council) working groups on the implementation of IFRS by insurance organisations (January 2007), 

internal rents and corresponding revenues recognised in the insurance companies’ financial statements 

are eliminated without effect on the policyholders’ profit-sharing benefit. 

By way of exception, property occupied by the owner entity that is an underlying item of direct profit-

sharing contracts is measured at fair value (by amendment to IAS 16). 

 INSURANCE COMPANY INVESTMENTS \ 

 

The “Real estate Investment” caption includes all real estate assets, including units of real estate 

companies underlying unit-linked investment contracts, except for shares of real estate companies used 

as the underlying items of Unit-linked contracts, which appear under the heading “Investments in unit-

linked contracts” and shares of real estate companies, both listed and unlisted, classified as “Financial 

assets at fair value through profit or loss”. 

Investment properties correspond to real estate held directly by insurance companies and consolidated 

real estate companies. They consist of land, buildings and, in certain special cases, business assets 

acquired with the buildings. 

Initial valuation of investment properties 

Land and buildings appear on the balance sheet at their acquisition cost, which includes the directly 

attributable acquisition costs. 
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Under the component approach, the total cost of buildings is divided among its four different components: 

shell, facade, general and technical installations, fixtures and fittings, with each component being 

accounted for separately according to its useful life or the rate at which it provides economic benefits. 

Real estate investments in the hotel industry can include acquired leaseholds rights that are non-

depreciable and accessory to lands and constructions. Those leaseholds rights, under lease 

management or management contracts, constitute elements generating returns on insurance 

investments to cover insurance commitments. 

Subsequent expenditures 

Subsequent expenditures are capitalised if they can be measured reliably and are likely to generate 

future economic benefits. 

Subsequent valuation of investment properties 

IAS 40 allows an entity to choose between: 

▪ the market fair value model ("fair value”) and the cost model for all investment property backing 

liabilities which return is directly linked to the fair value of specified assets such as investment 

property or to the return on such assets, and 

▪ the two valuation models for all other investment property. 

BNP Paribas Cardif has chosen to measure investment property at fair value through profit or loss when 

it is backing liabilities whose return is linked to the value of these properties and the cost to other 

properties. This is the case where these buildings are underlying assets of direct profit-sharing contracts. 

Depreciation period of investment properties measured at cost 

The depreciation period of the components used by the group, defined individually for each component, 

depends on the category of the building (prestige building or other buildings) and its intended use (offices, 

retail, housing, car parks). 

The depreciation periods used by the Group are as follows: 

▪ shell (depreciation period between 50 and 80 years); 

▪ facades (25 to 30 years); 

▪ general and technical installations (20 to 25 years); 

▪ fixtures and fittings (12 to 15 years). 

Investment (and operating) properties held as underlying assets of direct profit-sharing 
contracts 

Following the amendment to IAS 40 related to the entry into force of IFRS 17, when an investment 

property is held as an underlying asset of direct profit-sharing contracts, it is measured at fair value 

through profit or loss. Prior to the application of IFRS 17, the fair value model was only applied to 

properties investments backing unit-linked contracts. 

The same valuation method is applied to operating properties used as underlying assets of direct profit-

sharing contracts following an amendment to IAS 16. 

At the balance sheet date, the fair value of investment property is its realisable value, which is 

determined on the basis of an expert appraisal delivered by one or more independent appraisers. 

Between two appraisals, the realisable value is updated at least annually. Appraisers follow professional 

rules to carry out these appraisals. 



 

 

  28 

Three main methods are used in practice to determine the realisable value: 

▪ the comparative method of similar transactions, 

▪ the yield method (which is a rate applied to a rental basis), 

▪ the method of discounted cash flows. 

The final value retained by the independent appraiser may be a compromise between these three 

methods. 

Other investment (and operating) properties 

After initial recognition, investment properties that are not held as underlying assets of direct profit-

sharing contracts are recognised at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. 

Impairment of buildings measured at cost 

If, at the closing date, the realisable value of a building measured at cost is more than 20% lower than 

its carrying amount, a special study is conducted to determine whether it is necessary to recognise a 

provision for impairment. 

Recognising an impairment reduces the carrying amount of the building to its realisable value, the 

impairment being recorded through profit or loss. 

When the realisable value of investment properties subsequently becomes higher than their carrying 

amount, the provision for impairment is reversed through profit or loss. 

Gains and losses on disposals of investment properties 

Gains or losses on the sale of investment properties are recorded in the income statement under "Gains 

and losses on disposal of investment assets net of depreciation and amortisation reversals”. 

The shares of non-consolidated listed real estate companies are classified as financial assets at fair 

value through profit or loss and follow IFRS 9 rules applicable to that class of assets. 

Shares of unlisted real estate companies and their related receivables (in particular current accounts 

and advances from partners) are treated as an overall investment and classified as financial assets at 

fair value through profit or loss. The amount of this investment is valued in relation to the fair value of 

the underlying assets. 

Shares of real estate investment property (SCIs) and the shares or units in real estate mutual funds 

OPCI which back unit-linked insurance/investment contracts, are valued at their fair value (or its 

equivalent) at the reporting date, with changes in fair value recognised in the income statement. 

If those companies are fully consolidated, the properties they own are valued at fair value through profit 

or loss as permitted by IAS 40 “Investment properties”. 
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Financial investments of insurance activities are accounted for in accordance with the rules defined by 

IFRS 9.

Financial assets are classified at amortised cost, at fair value through equity or at fair value through 

profit or loss depending on the business model and the contractual features of the instruments at initial 

recognition.  

Financial assets are recognised in the balance sheet when the BNP Paribas Cardif group becomes a 

party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Purchases and sales of financial assets made 

within a period established by the regulations or by a convention in the relevant marketplace are 

recognised in the balance sheet at the trade date. 

Business model criterion 

The financial assets that are managed to collect cash flows by receiving the contractual payments over 

the life of the instrument correspond to the "collect” and "collect and sale” business models. 

The realisation of disposals close to the maturity of the instrument and for an amount close to the 

remaining contractual cash flows, or due to an increase in the counterparty's credit risk is consistent 

with a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows (“collect”). Sales imposed 

by regulatory requirements or to manage the concentration of credit risk (without an increase in the 

asset’s credit risk) are also consistent with this business model when they are infrequent or insignificant 

in value. 

Cash flow criterion 

The cash flow criterion is satisfied if the contractual terms of the debt instrument give rise, on specified 

dates, to cash flows that are solely repayments of principal and interest on the principal amount 

outstanding. 

The criterion is not met in the event of a contractual characteristic that exposes the holder to risks or to 

the volatility of contractual cash flows that are inconsistent with those of a non-structured or “basic 

lending” arrangement. It is also not satisfied in the event of leverage that increases the variability of the 

contractual cash flows. 

Interest consists of consideration for the time value of money, for the credit risk, and for the remuneration 

of other risks (e.g. liquidity risk), costs (e.g. administration fees), and a profit margin consistent with that 

of a basic lending arrangement. The existence of negative interest does not call into question the cash 

flow criterion. 

The time value of money is the component of interest - usually referred to as the “rate” component - 

which provides consideration for only the passage of time. The relationship between the interest rate 

and the passage of time must not be modified by specific characteristics that could call into question the 

respect of the cash flow criterion. 
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Thus, when the variable interest rate of the financial asset is periodically reset at a frequency that does 

not match the duration for which the interest rate is established, the time value of money may be 

considered as modified and, depending on the significance of that modification, the cash flow criterion 

may not be met. Some financial assets held by the group present a mismatch between the interest rate 

reset frequency and the maturity of the index, or interest rates indexed to an average of benchmark rate. 

The group has developed a consistent methodology for analysing this alteration of the time value of 

money. 

Some contractual clauses may change the timing or the amount of cash flows. Early redemption options 

do not call into question the cash flow criterion if the prepayment amount substantially represents the 

principal amount outstanding and the interest thereon, which may include reasonable compensation for 

the early termination of the contract. 

An option that permits the issuer or the holder of a financial instrument to change the interest rate from 

floating to fixed rate does not breach the cash flow criterion if the fixed rate is determined at origination, 

or if it represents the time value of money for the residual maturity of the instrument at the date of 

exercise of the option. Clauses included in financing granted to encourage the sustainable development 

of companies which adjust the interest margin depending on the achievement of environmental, social 

or governance (ESG) objectives and disclosed in Chapter 7 of the Universal registration document of 

BNP Paribas, do not call into question the cash flow criterion when such an adjustment is considered to 

be minimal. Structured instruments indexed to ESG market indices do not meet the cash flow criterion. 

Financial assets are classified at amortised cost if the following two criteria are met: the business model 

objective is to hold the instrument in order to collect the contractual cash flows and the cash flows consist 

solely of payments relating to principal and interest on the principal. 

The only financial assets of the BNP Paribas Cardif group classified at amortised cost are loans, security 

deposits related to securities and derivatives transactions and other deposits with credit institutions. 

Debt instruments 

Debt instruments are classified at fair value through equity if the following two criteria are met:  

▪ business model criterion: financial assets are held in a business model whose objective is 

achieved by both holding the financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and 

selling the financial assets (“collect and sale”). The latter is not incidental but is an integral part 

of the business model.  

▪ cash flow criterion: the principles are identical to those applicable to financial assets at 

amortised cost.  

The financial assets of the BNP Paribas Cardif group are managed according to the “collect and sale” 

business model, with the exception of assets representing unit-linked contracts and debt instruments 

held by consolidated UCITS and managed at fair value through profit or loss. 

On initial recognition, financial assets are recognised at their fair value, including transaction costs 

directly attributable to the transaction. They are subsequently measured at fair value and changes in fair 

value are recognised, under a specific line of equity entitled “Changes in assets and liabilities recognised 
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directly in equity”. Similarly, these financial assets are subject from the outset to a calculation of 

impairment for expected losses in respect of credit risk(2).In addition, interest is recognised in the income 

statement using the effective interest method determined at the inception of the contract. 

Equity instruments 

Investments in equity instruments such as shares are classified on option, and on a case-by-case basis, 

at fair value through equity (under a specific line). The choice of fair value through equity was made for 

certain lines representing own equity and non-profit-sharing contracts. In this case, on disposal of the 

shares, changes in fair value previously recognised in equity are not recognised in profit or loss. Only 

dividends, if they represent remuneration for the investment and not repayment of capital, are 

recognised in profit or loss. These instruments are not subject to impairment. 

Investments in mutual funds puttable to the issuer do not meet the definition of equity instruments. They 

do not meet the cash flow criterion either, and thus are recognised at fair value through profit or loss. 

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss include instruments held for trading, debt 

instruments that do not meet the “collect” or “collect and sale” business model criterion or that do not 

meet the cash flow criterion, as well as equity instruments for which the fair value through  equity option 

has not been retained. Finally financial assets may be designated at fair value through profit or loss if 

this enables the entity to eliminate or significantly reduce a mismatch in the measurement and 

accounting treatment of assets and liabilities that would otherwise arise if they were to be classified in 

other categories.   

These financial instruments are measured at fair value at initial recognition, with transaction costs 

directly posted in profit or loss. At the reporting date, they are measured at fair value, with changes 

presented in “Net gain/loss on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss”. Income, 

dividends, and realised gains and losses on disposal related to held-for-trading transactions are 

accounted for in the same profit or loss account. 

The impairment model for credit risk is based on expected losses. This model applies to: 

▪ loans and debt instruments measured at amortised cost or at fair value through equity; 

▪ loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts that are not recognised at fair value; 

▪ lease receivables falling under IFRS 16; and 

▪ trade receivables and contract assets covered by IFRS 15. 

General model 

The group identifies three “stages” that each correspond to a specific status with regards to the evolution 

of counterparty credit risk since the initial recognition of the asset: 

 

(2) See section “Impairment of assets at amortised cost and debt instruments at fair value through equity”. 
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▪ 12-month expected credit losses (“stage 1”): if at the reporting date, the credit risk of the 

financial instrument has not increased significantly since its initial recognition, this instrument 

is impaired at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses (resulting from the risk of 

default within the next 12 months);  

▪ lifetime expected credit losses for non-impaired assets (“stage 2”): the loss allowance is 

measured at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk of the 

financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, but the financial asset 

is not considered credit-impaired or doubtful; 

▪ lifetime expected credit losses for credit-impaired or doubtful financial assets (“stage 3”): the 

loss allowance is also measured for an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses.  

This general model is applied to all instruments within the scope of IFRS 9 impairment, except for 

purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets and instruments for which a simplified model is 

used (see below).  

The IFRS 9 expected credit loss approach is symmetrical, i.e. if lifetime expected credit losses have 

been recognised in a previous reporting period, and if it is assessed in the current reporting period that 

there is no longer any significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the loss allowance reverts 

to a 12-month expected credit loss.  

As regards interest income, under “stages” 1 and 2, it is calculated on the gross carrying amount. Under 

“stage 3”, interest income is calculated on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount adjusted 

for the loss allowance). 

Definition of default  

BNP Paribas Cardif is subject to Solvency 2 regulation. The definition of default in the Solvency 2 

documentation is based on the Basel default used by the BNP Paribas Group. BNP Paribas Cardif does 

not apply a specific presumption of default criterion because its International Asset Management 

department, in conjunction with the Risk function, ensures that high-risk bonds are sold before a default 

event occurs. The definition of default is used consistently for assessing the increase in credit risk and 

measuring expected credit losses. 

Credit-impaired or doubtful financial assets 

Definition 

A financial asset is considered credit-impaired or doubtful and classified in “stage 3” when one or more 

events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have 

occurred.  

As mentioned above, BNP Paribas Cardif normally sells high-risk bonds before a default event occurs. 

No assets are currently classified in “stage 3”. 

Significant increase in credit risk   

A significant increase in credit risk may be assessed on an individual basis or on a collective basis (by 

grouping financial instruments according to common credit risk characteristics), taking into account all 

reasonable and justifiable information and comparing the risk of default of the financial instrument at the 

reporting date with the risk of default of the financial instrument at the date of initial recognition. 
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Assessment of deterioration is based on the comparison of the probabilities of default derived from the 

ratings on the date of initial recognition with those existing at the reporting date. 

There is also, according to the standard, a rebuttable presumption that the credit risk of an instrument 

has significantly increased since initial recognition when the contractual payments are more than 30 

days past due. 

Measurement of expected credit losses 

Expected credit losses are defined as an estimate of credit losses (i.e., the present value of all cash 

shortfalls) weighted by the probability of occurrence of these losses over the expected life of the financial 

instruments. They are measured on an individual basis, for all exposures. 

In practice, for exposures classified in stage 1 and stage 2, expected credit losses are measured as the 

multiplication of the probability of default (“PD”), loss given default (“LGD”) and exposure at default 

(“EAD”), discounted at the effective interest rate of the exposure (EIR). They result from the risk of 

default within the next 12 months (stage 1), or from the risk of default over the maturity of the facility 

(stage 2). For exposures classified in stage 3, expected credit losses are measured as the value, 

discounted at the effective interest rate, of all cash shortfalls over the life of the financial instrument. 

Cash shortfalls represent the difference between the cash flows that are due in accordance with the 

contract, and the cash flows that are expected to be received. 

Maturity 

Maturity refers to the maturity date of the bond. All contractual terms of the financial instrument are taken 

into account, including prepayment, extension and similar options. In the rare cases where the expected 

life of the financial instrument cannot be estimated reliably, the residual contractual term is used. The 

standard specifies that the maximum period to consider when measuring expected credit losses is the 

maximum contractual period. 

Probabilities of Default (PD)  

Probability of Default is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon. 

The measurement of expected credit losses requires the estimation of both 1-year probabilities of default 

and lifetime probabilities of default. 

In the absence of its own credit rating tool and in order to ensure consistency with its parent company, 

BNP Paribas Cardif uses the probability of default provided by BNP Paribas, which associates each 

rating with an internal PD, as posted on the BNP Paribas scale. 

Loss Given Default (LGD) 

Loss Given Default is the difference between contractual cash flows and expected cash flows, 

discounted using the effective interest rate (or an approximation thereof) at the default date. LGD is 

expressed as a percentage of the Exposure At Default (EAD). 

The LGD used for IFRS 9 purposes is derived from the Basel LGD parameters. It is adjusted for 

downturn and conservatism margins (in particular regulatory margins), except for margins for model 

uncertainties. 
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Exposure At Default (EAD) 

Exposure At Default (EAD) of an instrument is the anticipated outstanding amount owed by the debtor 

at the time of default. It is determined by the expected payment profile taking into account, depending 

on the product type: the contractual repayment schedule, expected early repayments and expected 

future drawings for revolving facilities. For BNP Paribas Cardif, only bonds are concerned. 

 

Securities temporarily sold as part of a repurchase agreement are still recognised in the group’s balance 

sheet in their original portfolio, with the corresponding liability recognised under “Financial debt due to 

banking sector companies”. 

Securities temporarily acquired under reverse repurchase agreements are not recognised in the group’s 

balance sheet. The corresponding receivable is recognised in accordance with the rules applicable to 

financial assets managed according to the “collect and sale” model. 

Securities lending transactions do not result in derecognition of the lent securities, and securities 

borrowing transactions do not result in recognition of the borrowed securities on the balance sheet.  

In cases where the borrowed securities are subsequently sold by the group, the obligation to deliver the 

borrowed securities on maturity is recognised on the balance sheet under “Financial debt due to banking 

sector companies”. 

 

Derivatives are contracts included in the scope of IFRS 9 that meet the following three conditions: 

▪ their value fluctuates according to changes in one or more underlying factors (interest rate, 

price, exchange rate, price index, credit rating, any other similar variable); 

▪ they do not require any initial net investment or a low initial net investment; 

▪ such contracts are settled at a future date. 

All derivatives are recognised in the balance sheet on the trading date at their transaction price. 

At the closing date, they are revalued at their fair value. 

Changes in fair value between two valuations are recognised in the income statement under "Net 

change in investments at fair value through profit or loss", with the exception of derivatives designated 

as cash flow hedging instruments and net investments abroad. 
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The group has retained the option provided by the standard to maintain the hedge accounting 

requirements of IAS 39 until the future standard on macro-hedging comes into force. Furthermore, IFRS 

9 does not explicitly address the fair value hedge of the interest rate risk on a portfolio of financial assets 

or liabilities. The provisions in IAS 39 for these portfolio hedges, as adopted by the European Union, 

continue to apply. 

Derivatives contracted as part of a hedging relationship are designated according to the purpose of the 

hedge and the accounting principles for derivatives and hedged instruments depend on the hedging 

strategy. 

Objectives pursued 

A fair value hedge (FVH) is used to hedge the interest rate risk of fixed-rate assets or changes in share 

price. 

A cash flow hedge (CFH) is used in particular to hedge the interest rate risk of floating-rate and fixed-

rate assets, including rollovers, and foreign exchange risks of initial flows and highly probable future 

flows in foreign currencies. 

A net investment hedge (NIH) in foreign currencies makes it possible to hedge the foreign exchange 

position of the group in relation to its investments in foreign currencies abroad, investments in 

subsidiaries and branches in particular. 

Formal documentation prepared at the inception of the hedge 

At the inception of the hedge, the group prepares a formal documentation that details the hedging 

relationship, identifying the instrument, or portion of the instrument or of risk hedged, the hedging 

strategy and the type of risk hedged, the designation of the hedging instrument and the methods used 

to assess the effectiveness of the hedging relationship. 

At inception and at least quarterly, the group assesses, in consistency with the original documentation, 

the actual (retrospective) and expected (prospective) effectiveness of the hedging relationship.  

Retrospective effectiveness tests for hedges 

Retrospective effectiveness tests are designed to assess whether the ratio of actual changes in the fair 

value or cash flows of the hedging instrument and those in the hedged item is within a range of 80% to 

125% (ratios applicable to fair value hedges and cash flow hedges). 

Recognition of a derivative in fair value hedge  

For a fair value hedging relationship, derivatives are revalued in the balance sheet at their fair value 

through the income statement under “Investment income excluding financing expense”, in line with the 

revaluation of the instruments hedged for the corresponding risk.  

In the balance sheet, the revaluation of the hedged component is recognised in accordance with the 

classification of the hedged instrument for a hedging relationship for identified assets or liabilities. 

If a hedging relationship ceases or no longer fulfils the effectiveness criteria, the hedging derivatives are 

transferred to the trading book and accounted for using the treatment applied to this category. In the 

case of identified fixed-income instruments, the remeasurement adjustment recognised in the balance 
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sheet is amortised at the effective interest rate over the remaining life of the instrument. In the case of 

interest rate risk hedged fixed-income portfolios, the adjustment is amortised on a straight-line basis 

over the remainder of the original term of the hedge.  

If the hedged item no longer appears in the balance sheet, in particular due to prepayments, the 

adjustment is taken to the income statement immediately. 

Recognition of a derivative as a cash flow hedge  

In a cash flow hedging relationship, the derivatives are revalued at fair value in the balance sheet, offset 

by a specific line in other comprehensive income "Changes in deferred value of derivatives used for 

hedging instruments". 

Amounts in this item over the life of the hedge are transferred to the income statement under "Investment 

income excluding financing expense" as the cash flows of the hedged instrument impact profit or loss. 

The hedged items continue to be accounted for using the treatment specific to the category to which 

they belong. 

If the hedging relationship ceases or no longer fulfils the effectiveness criteria, the cumulative amounts 

recognised in equity as a result of the remeasurement of the hedging instrument remain in equity until 

the hedged transaction itself impacts profit or loss or until it becomes clear that the transaction will not 

occur, at which point they are transferred to profit or loss. 

If the hedged item ceases to exist, the cumulative amounts recognised in equity are immediately taken 

to profit or loss. 

Recognition of the ineffective portion of the hedge 

Regardless of the hedging strategy adopted, the ineffective portion of a hedge is recognised in the 

income statement under "Net change in investments at fair value through profit or loss". 

Net foreign investment hedges in subsidiaries or branches 

Hedges of net foreign currency investments in subsidiaries or branches are accounted for in the same 

way as cash flow hedges. Hedging instruments may be currency derivatives or any other non-derivative 

financial instrument. 

The gain or loss on a hedging instrument related to the effective portion of the hedge is recognised in 

equity. The gain or loss related to the ineffective portion of the hedge is immediately recognised in profit 

or loss. 

Cumulative gains and losses in shareholders' equity are recorded in the income statement on the 

disposal of the foreign entity. In the case of a partial disposal, only the proportionate share of the 

corresponding cumulative exchange differences is included profit or loss. 

An embedded derivative is a component of a hybrid (composite) instrument that also includes a non-

derivative host contract, which has the effect of making a portion of the cash flows of the compound 

instrument vary in a manner similar to a stand-alone derivative. 
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Financial instruments issued by the BNP Paribas group are qualified as debt instruments if the group 

company issuing the instruments has a contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset 

to the holder of the instrument. The same applies if the group is required to exchange financial assets 

or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the group, 

or to deliver a variable number of the group’s own equity instruments. 

Issues of debt securities are initially recognised at the issue value including transaction costs and are 

subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

 

The term “own equity instruments” refers to shares issued by the parent company (BNP Paribas SA) 

and by its fully consolidated subsidiaries. External costs that are directly attributable to an issue of new 

shares are deducted from equity net of all related taxes. 

Own equity instruments held by the group, also known as treasury shares, are deducted from 

consolidated shareholders’ equity irrespective of the purpose for which they are held. Gains and losses 

arising on such instruments are eliminated from the consolidated income statement. BNP Paribas Cardif 

does not hold its own shares. 

When the group acquires equity instruments issued by subsidiaries under the exclusive control and 

considered equivalent to equity instruments issued by the parent company, the difference between the 

acquisition price and the share of net assets acquired is recorded in the consolidated retained earnings 

group share. 

The liability corresponding to put options granted to minority shareholders in such subsidiaries, and 

changes in the value of that liability, are offset initially against minority interests, with any surplus offset 

against retained earnings group share.  

Until these options have been exercised, the portion of net income attributable to minority interests is 

allocated to minority interests in the consolidated income statement. A decrease in the group’s interest 

in a fully consolidated subsidiary is recognised in the group’s financial statements as a change in 

shareholders’ equity. 

Own equity instrument derivatives are treated as follows, depending on the settlement method: 

▪ as equity instruments if they are settled by physical delivery of a fixed number of own equity 

instruments for a fixed amount of cash or other financial asset. Such instruments are not 

revalued; 

▪ as derivatives if they are settled in cash, or by choice by physical delivery of the shares or in 

cash. Changes in value of such instruments are taken to the income statement. 
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If the contract includes an obligation for the group, whether contingent or not, to repurchase its own 

shares, a debt is recognised at its present value with an offsetting entry in shareholders' equity. 

 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 

transaction between market participants in the principal market or most advantageous market, at the 

measurement date. 

The group determines the fair value of financial instruments either by using prices obtained directly from 

external data or by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques are primarily market and 

income approaches encompassing generally accepted models (e.g. discounted cash flows, Black-

Scholes model and interpolation techniques). They maximise the use of observable inputs and minimise 

the use of unobservable inputs. These techniques are calibrated to reflect current market conditions. 

Valuation adjustments are applied where necessary, when factors such as model, liquidity and credit 

risks are not captured by the valuation techniques or parameters used but are nevertheless taken into 

account by market participants when setting the market price. 

The fair value is determined for each financial asset or financial liability taken individually, but it can be 

measured on a portfolio basis when certain conditions are met. Thus, the Group applies this exception 

when a group of financial assets and financial liabilities and other contracts falling within the scope of 

the financial instruments standard is managed on the basis of its net exposure to similar market or credit 

risks that offset each other, in accordance with a duly documented internal risk management strategy. 

Assets and liabilities measured or disclosed at fair value are categorised into the three following levels 

of the fair value hierarchy: 

▪ level 1: fair values are determined using directly quoted prices in active markets for identical 

assets and liabilities. Characteristics of an active market include the existence of a sufficient 

frequency and volume of activity and of readily available prices; 

▪ level 2: fair values are determined based on valuation techniques for which significant inputs 

are observable market data, either directly or indirectly. These techniques are regularly 

calibrated, and the inputs are corroborated with information from active markets; 

▪ level 3: fair values are determined using valuation techniques for which significant inputs are 

unobservable or cannot be corroborated by market-based observations, due for instance to 

illiquidity of the instrument and significant model risk. A non-observable parameter is data for 

which no market information is available. It is therefore derived from internal assumptions 

about the data that would be used by other market participants. The assessment of whether 

a product is illiquid or subject to significant model risks is a matter of judgement. 

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the asset or liability is categorised in its entirety is based 

upon the lowest level input that is significant to the entire fair value. 

For financial instruments disclosed in level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, and to a lesser extent for certain 

financial instruments presented in level 2, a difference between the transaction price and the fair value 

may arise at initial recognition. This “Day One Profit” is deferred and released to the income statement 

over the period during which the valuation parameters are expected to remain non-observable. When 

parameters that were originally non-observable become observable, or when the valuation can be 

substantiated in comparison with recent similar transactions in an active market, the unrecognised 

portion of the day one profit is released to the income statement. 
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The group derecognises all or part of a financial asset either when the contractual rights to the cash 

flows from the asset expire or when the group transfers the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 

asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset. Unless these conditions are 

fulfilled, the group retains the asset in its balance sheet and recognises a liability for the obligation 

created because of the transfer of the asset. The group derecognises all or part of a financial liability 

when the liability is extinguished in full or in part.  

Where the group has transferred the cash flows of a financial asset but has neither transferred nor 

retained substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset and has not in practice 

retained control of the financial asset, the group derecognises the financial asset and then records 

separately, if necessary, an asset or liability representing the rights and obligations created or held as 

part of the transfer of the asset. If the group has retained control of the financial asset, it maintains it on 

its balance sheet to the extent of its continuing involvement in that asset. 

Upon the derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, a gain or loss on disposal is recognised in the 

income statement for an amount equal to the difference between the carrying amount of the asset and 

the value of the consideration received, adjusted where appropriate for any unrealised gain or loss 

previously recognised directly in equity.  

If all these conditions are not met, the group retains the asset in its balance sheet and recognises a 

liability for the obligations arising on the transfer of the asset. 

The group derecognises all or part of a financial liability when the liability is extinguished, i.e. when the 

obligation specified in the contract is extinguished, cancelled, or expired. A financial liability may also 

be derecognised in the event of a substantial change in its contractual terms or if exchanged with the 

lender for an instrument with substantially different contractual terms. 

 

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset, and the net amount presented in the balance sheet 

if, and only if, the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts, and intends 

either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  

Repurchase agreements and derivatives that meet the two criteria set out in the accounting standard 

are offset in the balance sheet. 

 INVESTMENTS IN ENTITIES IN THE BANKING SECTOR AND OTHER 

SECTORS OF ACTIVITY 

BNP Paribas Cardif does not consolidate companies in the banking sector but only companies in other 

sectors of activity. 
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The investments of those companies follow the classification, valuation and impairment rules defined by 

IFRS 9. They are presented under a specific heading in balance sheet assets if material. 

 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS 

The methods used to account for assets and liabilities relating to foreign currency transactions entered 

into by the group, and to measure the foreign exchange risk arising on such transactions, depend on 

whether the asset or liability in question is classified as a monetary or a non-monetary item. 

 

Monetary assets and liabilities are assets and liabilities to be received or paid in fixed or determinable 

amounts of cash. 

Monetary assets and liabilities expressed in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency 

of the relevant group entity at the closing rate. 

Foreign exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss, except for those arising from financial 

instruments designated as a cash flow hedge or a net foreign investment hedge (see paragraph 

"Derivative instruments and hedge accounting"), which are recognised in equity. 

For French insurance companies, this treatment broadly corresponds  to the one used for assets and 

liabilities that create "operational" foreign exchange positions. 

 

Non-monetary assets may be measured either at historical cost or at fair value. Non-monetary assets 

expressed in foreign currencies are converted using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction if 

they are measured at historical cost and at the closing rate if they are measured at fair value. 

Foreign exchange differences on non-monetary assets denominated in foreign currencies and 

measured at fair value (variable-income securities) are recognised in profit or loss  if the asset is 

classified under “Financial investments at fair value through profit or loss”, and in  equity if the asset is 

classified under “Financial investments at fair value through other comprehensive income”, unless the 

financial asset in question is designated as an item hedged against foreign exchange risk in a fair value 

hedging relationship, in which case the translation difference is recognised in profit or loss. 

 SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY - GROUP SHARE 

The section “Changes in assets and liabilities recognised directly in equity” on the liabilities side of the 

balance sheet includes various types of changes for which IFRS standards provide or allow for direct 

recognition in equity (in “other comprehensive income”), which may or may not be recycled to  profit or 

loss. 
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These differences correspond in particular to unrealised gains and losses resulting from the revaluation 

of financial instruments classified as “Financial assets at fair value through equity”: 

▪ debt securities classified according to the “collect and sale” business model for which the 

amount taken to equity can be recycled to  profit or loss, 

▪ equity instruments for which this amount is not recyclable in profit or loss but will be transferred 

to other reserves in the event of disposal, 

▪ revaluation effects of cash flow hedge derivatives. 

In the case of insurance contracts and investment contracts with discretionary profit-sharing, the 

difference corresponds to those recognised under the options permitted by IFRS 17 to record: 

▪ in the case of contracts valued according to the general model, the effect of changes in the 

discount rate between initial recognition and the reporting date; 

▪ in the case of participating direct contracts measured using the variable fee model, the 

adjustment of the accounting mismatch in the income statement between the revaluation of 

the underlying assets and that of insurance liabilities. 

For details on the application of the option to record changes in the discount rate on insurance liabilities 

in equity, see note 1.12.2. 

Besides, in accordance with IAS 21 "The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates", these 

differences also include the effects of the revaluation of derivatives used as net foreign investment 

hedges. 

Finally, this item records the change in deferred taxes linked to these various changes, if any. 

 MINORITY INTERESTS 

Non-controlling interests, also called minority interests, represent the share held by third parties in the 

net assets and net income of fully consolidated Group companies whose capital is not fully owned, 

directly or indirectly, by the consolidating parent company. 

 SUBORDINATED DEBT 

The classification of perpetual subordinated debts as financing debt is based on the analysis of the 

contractual clauses and the criteria defined by IAS 32. These clauses specify that the issuing company 

reserves the right to repay its debt in advance.  

Subordinated debt is measured at amortised cost, as are financing debt securities (see the paragraph 

“Debt securities issued”). 
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 INVESTMENT CONTRACTS WITHOUT DISCRETIONARY PROFIT-

SHARING 

Investment contracts without discretionary profit-sharing are within the scope of IFRS 9 “Financial 

Instruments”. These are essentially pure unit-linked contracts with no floor guarantee. They are recorded 

as deposits. 

Consequently, premiums received under these contracts are recognised directly in the balance sheet 

as deposits received, without going through the income statement. Similarly, benefits paid and claims 

settled are recorded in the balance sheet as repayments of deposits, without impact on the income 

statement. 

The costs incurred in connection with investment contracts without direct profit-sharing (additional 

external costs directly related to the asset management service) are recognised as assets in the balance 

sheet. These costs are amortized over the life of the contracts. 

Ancillary costs directly related to the management of these investment contracts are also recognised as 

assets if they can be separately identified, reliably measured and are likely to be recovered. They are 

then amortised over the term of the contract, symmetrically as the corresponding profit is recognised. 

The operating expenses related to investment contracts without discretionary profit-sharing are 

recognised in profit or loss. The same rule applies to earned income, spread over the estimated duration 

of the contract. 

In the case of unit-linked contracts, at the inventory date, the commitments relating to these contracts 

are valued at the fair value of the underlying assets at that date. 

 INSURANCE CONTRACTS AND INVESTMENT CONTRACTS WITH 

DISCRETIONARY PROFIT-SHARING 

 

The contracts issued by the BNP Paribas Cardif group fall into two categories: 

▪ insurance and reinsurance contracts and investment contracts with discretionary profit-sharing, 

which are in the scope of IFRS 17 “Insurance contracts”; 

▪ investment contracts without discretionary profit-sharing, which are in the scope of IFRS 9 

“Financial Instruments” (see above). 

Insurance contracts 

According to IFRS 17, an insurance contract is a contract under which one party (the issuer) assumes 

a significant insurance risk for another party (the policyholder) by agreeing to indemnify the policyholder 

if a specified future uncertain event (the insured event) is detrimental to the policyholder. 

An insurance risk is significant if, and only if, an insured event can cause the insurer to pay significant 

additional amounts in any scenario, excluding scenarios that are devoid of commercial substance. A 

contract transfers a significant insurance risk only if there is a scenario with a commercial substance in 

which there is a possibility that the issuer will incur a loss based on the present value. 
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The main insurance risks insured by BNP Paribas Cardif group entities relate to mortality (death 

guarantees), longevity (life guarantees, e.g. life annuities), morbidity (disability guarantees), disability, 

health (medical coverage), unemployment, civil liability, and property damage. 

These types of risks are controlled by the use of appropriate mortality tables (certified tables in the case 

of annuity-holders), medical screening appropriate to the level of benefit offered, and statistical 

monitoring of insured populations and reinsurance programs. 

In the case of savings contracts, BNP Paribas Cardif distinguishes two types of risks that enable these 

contracts to be classified as insurance contracts in accordance with IFRS 17:  

▪ risk of survival: in the event of a life annuity in service or of a deferred life annuity, if the annuity 

is compulsory;  

▪ risk of death: if the death benefit is greater than the surrender value of the contracts. 

 

BNP Paribas Cardif thus refers to the following criteria to define the classification of these contracts as 

insurance contracts: 

▪ minimum death coverage for the General Fund, where the death benefit is at least equal to 

105% of the surrender value; 

▪ minimum coverage for unit-linked contracts to cover unfavourable changes in the financial 

markets; this guarantee is always qualified as insurance risk;  

▪ annuities, if the annuity is in use or the annuity paid is optional after the accumulation phase 

but the rate is guaranteed at the time of the subscription, or the annuity paid is mandatory after 

the accumulation phase.  

The following contracts meet the definition of an insurance contract and are considered as falling within 

the scope of IFRS 17:  

▪ euro-denominated contracts backed by the General Fund with minimum coverage;  

▪ multiple investments contracts with minimum coverage;  

▪ unit-linked contracts with minimum coverage. 

IFRS 17 or other standards may also be applied to the following contracts: 

▪ Contracts that meet the definition of an insurance contract although their primary purpose is 

the provision of flat-rate services. Such contracts may be accounted for under IFRS 15 instead 

of IFRS 17 if, and only if, specific conditions are met: 

o the entity does not set the price of the contract with a particular customer based on an 

assessment of the risk associated with that customer; 

o the contract provides for compensation to the customer through the provision of services 

rather than cash payments; and 

o the insurance risk transferred by the contract is mainly the result of the customer’s use of 

services, rather than uncertainty about the costs of these services. 

This election is performed contract by contract, but is irrevocable for each contract. 

▪ Contracts which meet the definition of an insurance contract, but whose compensation for 

insured events is limited to the amount that would otherwise be required to settle the 

policyholder’s obligation under the contract (e.g. loans with a death waiver). Such contracts 

may be accounted for either IFRS 17 or IFRS 9 unless they are excluded from IFRS 17 para 

7. The choice is made for each portfolio of insurance contracts and is irrevocable. 
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Investment contracts with discretionary profit-sharing 

 

Investment contracts do not expose the insurer to significant insurance risk. They are within the scope 

of IFRS 17 if they are issued by entities that also issue insurance contracts. 

Discretionary profit-sharing is defined as the contractual right to receive, in addition to an amount that is 

not at the issuer’s discretion, additional amounts:  

▪ that are likely to represent a significant portion of the total benefits provided under the contract; 

▪ the timing or amount of which is contractually left to the issuer’s discretion; and  

▪ that are contractually based on the returns arising from a defined set of contracts or type of 

contract or on the realised and/or unrealised investment returns from a defined set of assets 

held by the issuer, or the result of the entity or fund issuing the contract. 

The following contracts qualify as investment contracts with discretionary profit-sharing and thus are in 

the scope of IFRS 17: 

▪ euro-denominated contracts backed by the General Fund with no minimum coverage; 

▪ multiple investments contracts with a General Fund component without minimum coverage. 

Financial guarantee contracts 

Financial guarantee contracts are within the scope of IFRS 9 but may be measured and recognised in 

accordance with IFRS 17 if they are issued in the form of insurance contracts that comply with the 

requirements of both standards. BNP Paribas Cardif has chosen to treat these contracts under IFRS 17. 

 

The measurement and recognition principles for insurance contracts have been developed on the basis 

of a general model, which applies by default to all contracts within the scope of IFRS 17. 

This general model has been modified to adapt to the specificities of contracts designated by the 

standard as “direct profit-sharing”, using a “variable fee approach” (VFA). 

A simplified alternative (the “Premium Allocation Approach” or “PAA”) is allowed as an approximation of 

an assessment according to the general model. 

Finally, specific adaptations have been developed for reinsurance contracts held. 

 

 

The following rules are common to the different measurement models and to the different insurance or 

investment contracts with discretionary participating features. 

Separation of components covered by other standards and not closely related 

When insurance or investment contracts with discretionary profit-sharing include components, which 

would fall within the scope of another standard if they were separate contracts, an analysis must be 

carried out to determine whether these components should be accounted for separately. Thus: 

▪ an embedded derivative is separated from the host insurance contract and accounted for 

under IFRS 9 when its economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of 

the host contract; 
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▪ an investment component corresponds to the amount that the insurer is required to repay to 

the insured in all cases whether the insured event occurs or not. It is separated from the host 

insurance contract and accounted for under IFRS 9 when it is distinct from the host insurance 

contract and when equivalent contracts could be sold separately in the same market or legal 

area. It is not separated if it is closely linked to the host contract. Changes in a non-distinct 

investment component (and in particular related payments) are not recognised in the income 

statement; 

▪ a promise to transfer to the policyholder distinct goods or services other than the services of 

the insurance contract is separated from the host insurance contract and accounted for under 

IFRS 15. 

In the case of life and savings contracts issued by BNP Paribas Cardif, the investment component 

corresponds to the surrender value of the contract where it exists. It is not separable from the host 

contract because it varies each year according to the profit-sharing and interest attributed to the contract 

(or the change in the value of the unit of account for unit-linked contracts) and is therefore closely linked 

to it. Certain contracts issued abroad that combine protection and savings components may also have 

a non-distinct investment component. 

Combination of insurance contracts 

When a series of insurance contracts with the same counterparty is intended to have an overall 

commercial effect, BNP Paribas Cardif treats the whole set collectively to reflect the substance of these 

contracts. 

Date of initial recognition  

A group of insurance contracts is recognised from the earliest of: 

▪ the beginning of its coverage period. 

▪ when the first payment from the policyholder becomes due or, if there is no contractual due 

date, when it is received from the policyholder; and 

▪ when facts and circumstances indicate that the group is onerous. 

Aggregation level 

Insurance contracts are recognised and measured based on aggregation, which is broken down as 

follows. 

The first level of aggregation is the portfolio of insurance contracts covering similar risks and managed 

together. 

For creditor insurance, protection and other non-life insurance contracts, BNP Paribas Cardif uses the 

following discriminatory criteria when constructing portfolios of homogeneous contracts: legal entity, 

nature of the risks and partner distributor. The reinsurance contracts shall follow the same principles. 

For life and savings contracts, BNP Paribas Cardif uses the following criteria for the life and savings 

portfolios: legal entity, product, and underlying asset. Savings and retirement activities have been 

classified in separate portfolios (including in the period before the transition) due to the existence of a 

risk of longevity in retirement activity. 

For the reinsurance contracts held, BNP Paribas Cardif uses the following criteria: legal entity, hedged 

item and partner. A portfolio can sometimes be a single treaty. 



 

 

  46 

The second level of aggregation within a portfolio is the expected level of profitability on initial recognition, 

based on the contractual service margin level of the contracts (onerous contracts, profitable contracts 

with no significant possibility of becoming onerous and others). BNP Paribas Cardif has decided to limit 

this subdivision to two groups: onerous contracts at initial recognition and other contracts (which 

therefore include contracts with a low probability of becoming onerous). 

The third level of aggregation is the generation (corresponding to an annual “cohort”), a group of 

contracts may contain only contracts issued within one year or less. 

However, in accordance with the optional exemption introduced by Regulation (EU) 2021/2036 of 19 

November 2021 adopting IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts, BNP Paribas Cardif has chosen not to group 

contracts by annual cohort for portfolios of profit-sharing contracts based on intergenerational 

mutualisation. This option has been applied to insurance contracts and investment contracts with 

discretionary profit-sharing that are eligible for the VFA model, euro-denominated or multiple investment, 

including a euro fund, for which policyholders’ profit-sharing is mutualised between the different 

generations of policyholders, mainly in France, Italy and Luxembourg. 

Initial recognition 

At initial recognition, a group of insurance contracts is measured as the sum of: 

▪ the fulfilment cash flows, which include estimates of future cash flows, adjusted to reflect the 

time value of money and associated financial risks, and a risk adjustment for non-financial risk 

and 

▪ the contractual service margin. 

In the case of the premium allocation model (or simplified model), for profitable contracts, the liability for 

remaining coverage corresponds to the premium received, without distinguishing between the future 

cash flows and the contractual service margin (for more details on the premium allocation model, see 

the dedicated section). 

Fulfilment cash flows 

The assessment of the group of insurance contracts must include the best estimate of all future cash 

flows (payable or receivable) required to meet contractual obligations (the “Fulfilment Cash Flows”) and 

included in the group’s contract boundary. The expected cash flows: 

▪ objectively takes into account the expected value of all possible results concerning the amount, 

timing and uncertainty of these expected cash flows, based on reasonable and justifiable 

available information; 

▪ reflects the perspective of the insurer, taking into account observable market prices; 

▪ is current: it reflects conditions at the measurement date, in particular the future assumptions; 

▪ is carried out independently of the time value adjustment for money and financial risk; 

▪ does not reflect the issuer’s own credit risk. 

The cash flows within the contract boundary are those directly related to the performance of the contract, 

including those whose amount or timing is at the entity’s discretion. They correspond to the flows relating 

to insurance contracts directly or through allocation methods: premiums, contract acquisition and 

management costs, claims and benefits, indirect costs, taxes and depreciation of tangible and intangible 

assets. 
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▪ premiums; 

▪ incurred and future claims payments (including benefits in kind); 

▪ the acquisition costs allocated to the portfolio to which the contract belongs (including the 

amortisation of exclusive distribution rights for insurance contracts); 

▪ claims handling costs; 

▪ the policy administration and maintenance costs; 

▪ transaction-based taxes directly related to contracts; 

▪ potential cash inflows from recoveries on claims; 

▪ fixed or variable overheads that are directly attributable to the fulfilment of insurance contracts: 

they represent a share of the costs of accounting, human resources, information technology 

and technical support, building depreciation, rent, maintenance and general services. These 

overheads are allocated to groups of contracts using systematic and rational methods; 

▪ investment management costs, for contracts that provide either investment return services, in 

the case of insurance contracts without elements of direct profit-sharing, or investment-related 

services, in the case of insurance contracts with elements of direct profit-sharing, which 

correspond to the management of the underlying assets on behalf of the insured. 

Direct variable costs (such as commissions on premiums) are allocated directly. Variable costs in stages 

or the proportion of attributable fixed costs are determined by the management control of each entity 

based on business surveys and allocated through work units. 

On the contrary, cash flows exclude the following items: 

▪ the investment returns, which are accounted for, measured and presented separately; 

▪ cash flows corresponding to future insurance contracts, which are outside the scope of existing 

contracts; 

▪ cash flows relating to costs that are not directly attributable to portfolios of existing insurance 

contracts, such as certain product development and training costs. These costs are 

recognised in net income when they are incurred; 

▪ cash flows corresponding to abnormal amounts (under-activity, lack of productivity), which are 

recognised in the income statement when they are incurred; 

▪ provisions for contingencies and expenses (amounts actually paid are treated using the 

expense allocation method); 

▪ income tax. 

Contract boundary 

For insurance contracts, cash flows within the contract boundary must therefore be included in the 

measurement of the Best Estimate of fulfilment cash flows, if they arise from substantial rights and 

obligations that exist during the reporting period in which BNP Paribas Cardif may require the 

policyholder to pay the premiums or has a substantial obligation to provide the policyholder with services 

provided for in the contract. 

This substantial obligation to provide services ends when: 

▪ BNP Paribas Cardif has the practical ability to reassess the risks generated specifically by the 

policyholder and can set a price or level of benefits that fully reflects these risks; or 
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▪ BNP Paribas Cardif has the practical ability to reassess the risks generated by the portfolio to 

which the contract belongs and can set a price or level of services that fully reflects the risk of 

this portfolio. The calculation of premiums up to the risk revaluation date does not take into 

account risks related to subsequent periods. 

For investment contracts with discretionary profit-sharing, the cash flows included in the scope are those 

resulting from a substantial obligation on BNP Paribas Cardif to deliver cash on a current or future date 

(this is the case for top-up payments subject to the same pricing conditions). BNP Paribas Cardif does 

not have this substantial obligation if it has the practical ability to set a price that fully reflects the amount 

promised and the associated risks. 

The contract boundary is reassessed at each reporting date to take into account the effect that changes 

in circumstances have on the entity’s substantive rights and obligations. 

Capitalised acquisition costs 

Capitalised acquisition costs include costs related to the design of a new contract (if they can be linked 

to contracts actually commercialised) and those directly related to the selling of insurance contracts: 

remuneration of intermediaries (agents, general agents, brokers), the costs of designing and 

underwriting the contract, and the costs of collecting the premium. 

Cash flows arising from acquisition costs are allocated to groups of insurance contracts using a 

systematic and rational method: 

▪ such cash flows are directly attributable to a contract or group of contracts and are therefore 

allocated to that group and, where appropriate, to groups which will include contracts expected 

to be renewed for that group; or 

▪ these cash flows are directly attributable to a portfolio of contracts and allocated among the 

portfolio's contract groups. 

The acquisition costs paid (or in respect of which a liability has been recognised under another IFRS 

standard) before the initial recognition of the corresponding group of contracts is recognised as an asset 

provided that the contracts are acquired within a maximum period of 12 months. Otherwise, acquisition 

costs are recognised as expenses. 

The assets corresponding to the acquisition costs of contracts that have not yet been recognised are 

presented as a deduction of insurance liabilities in the financial statements. 

This asset is then derecognised when the group of insurance contracts to which it is allocated is 

recognised. 

In the case where acquisition costs are paid taking into account the expected renewal of the contracts, 

they are also recognised as assets until allocated to the contracts or the renewal of the contracts. 

At each reporting date, if the facts and circumstances indicate that the acquisition costs asset may have 

impaired, a recoverability assessment is performed. The recoverability assessment aims at determining 

whether the expected future cash flows of the group of contracts are sufficient to recover the activated 

acquisition costs. 

If the asset includes costs allocated to contract renewals, then this test is performed at two levels. A first 

test is carried out at the level of the groups of contracts which will include the expected renewals. The 

second relates solely to the cash flows of expected renewals. 
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If the recoverability assessment concludes that there is a risk of non-recovery, the carrying amount of 

the asset is adjusted. If the conditions that gave rise to the impairment disappear or improve, the 

impairment loss is reversed in profit or loss. 

In the case of the general model and the variable fee model, acquisition costs are deducted from the 

contractual service margin of the group of contracts to which they relate. They are then amortised over 

the coverage period of the group of contracts with the same coverage unit as that used for the 

contractual service margin. 

Since the amount of the acquisition costs to be amortised was anticipated when the contract was initially 

recognised as a deduction from the contractual service margin, the recognition of the amortisation of 

these costs is reflected in the income statement in two opposite movements: 

▪ the cost of amortising acquisition costs for the period is recognised as “insurance service expenses”, 

offset by 

▪ the release of the profits allocated to the amortisation of the acquisition costs of the period 

recognised in “insurance revenue”. 

In the case of the simplified premium allocation model, BNP Paribas Cardif has chosen the option of 

carrying forward acquisition costs over the coverage period and therefore deducting these costs form 

the unearned premiums. Acquisition costs are amortised over the premium amortisation period. 

Multi-currency contracts 

Insurance assets and liabilities are treated as monetary assets and liabilities. 

In the case of contracts giving rise to cash flows in more than one currency (premiums, benefits, 

acquisition and management fees), BNP Paribas Cardif has elected to treat these contracts in one single 

currency corresponding to the functional currency in which the premiums and benefits are expressed. 

This accounting choice is one of two options provided by IFRS IC. 

Discount rates 

According to IFRS 17, the discount rates used to estimate future cash flows must: 

▪ reflect the time value of money, cash flow characteristics and liquidity characteristics of 

insurance contracts; 

▪ match observable current market prices (if any) of financial instruments whose cash flows 

have characteristics that correspond to those of insurance contracts in terms of timing, 

currency or liquidity; and 

▪ exclude the effect of factors that influence these observable market prices, but not the future 

cash flows of insurance contracts. 

The choice of the IFRS 17 discount rate curve is not required by the standard. The method of 

constructing the yield curve must be defined and justified for each portfolio. Two methodologies are 

proposed, one of which is to determine the interest rate curve based on the risk-free rate adjusted for 

factors specific to the characteristics of insurance liabilities (in particular the liquidity difference) and the 

other where the yield curve is based on the rate of return on assets adjusted for factors that are not 
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covered by the insurance contract (investment premium, credit risk, or any other investment risk borne 

by the entity) and on differences in the duration of the liability with the asset. 

BNP Paribas Cardif adopted the risk-free rate approach for the construction of the yield curve, with the 

following parameters: 

▪ a risk-free rate curve by currency, based on an approach similar to that proposed by EIOPA 

in the prudential framework, with two components: 

o observable market and liquid component – interest rates are determined by reference to 

market financial instruments that meet liquidity criteria, consistency with liabilities and 

adjusted to limit the impact of credit risk; 

o the transition component towards a long-term interest rate – an expected long-term 

interest rate allows extrapolation of the yield curve for maturities beyond the liquid portion 

observable in the market. 

▪ a liquidity premium specific to certain types of contracts, determined on the basis of portfolio 

assets. 

When the cash flows from contracts do not take into account the return on underlying financial assets 

(as for Protection), BNP Paribas Cardif has retained a discount rate corresponding to the risk-free rate, 

without quantifying a liquidity premium. 

When the cash flows from contracts take into account the return on underlying financial assets (in the 

case of contracts with direct profit-sharing), the risk-free yield curve is supplemented by a liquidity 

premium calculated from asset portfolio data representing savings and retirement contracts. BNP 

Paribas Cardif considers that bonds (sovereign and private) and diversified financial assets 

(Infrastructure, Private Equity, Real Estate and Debt Fund) benefit from a liquidity premium (or illiquidity). 

Risk adjustment 

For a group of insurance contracts, the risk adjustment is the compensation needed for bearing the 

uncertainty over the amount and timing of cash flows arising from the non-financial risk. It is determined 

separately from other estimates. It is part of the fulfilment cash flows. 

For contracts measured according to the general model and for incurred claims arising from contracts 

measured according to the premium allocation method, BNP Paribas Cardif has adopted a quantile 

method. 

For direct profit-sharing contracts measured according to the variable fee model ("VFA”) and certain 

contracts of Cardif Assurance Vie Taiwan branch, BNP Paribas Cardif has adopted an approach based 

on the cost of capital required, including future premiums but without taking into account the risk of mass 

surrender. 

The parameters used in each of the two approaches are specified in the note on the level of confidence 

used in the determination of the adjustment for non-financial risk. 

Contractual service margin 

The contractual service margin of a group of insurance contracts represents the unearned profit, to be 

recognised as the services are provided in the fulfilment of those contracts. 
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On initial recognition of a group of insurance contracts, if the total of the fulfilment cash flows, any cash 

flows arising on that date and any amount resulting from the derecognition of assets or liabilities 

previously recognised as cash flows related to the group (including assets related to acquisition costs): 

▪ is a net inflow, then the group is profitable. In this case, the contractual service margin offsets 

the expected profit on initial recognition of contracts; 

▪ is a net outflow, then the group is onerous. In this case, this amount is immediately recognised 

as a loss in the income statement. This loss component is subject to extra-accounting 

monitoring to be reversed in profit or loss at the pace of the release of fulfilment cash flows or 

if these contracts become profitable again. 

The “coverage units” used to release the contractual service margin must reflect the nature of the 

service(s) provided under the contract (see below). 

The contractual service margin is not isolated in the premium allocation model. 

Subsequent measurement 

At each reporting date, the carrying amount of a group of insurance contracts is the sum of the liability 

for remaining coverage and of the liability for incurred claims: 

▪ the liability for remaining coverage includes the fulfilment cash flows related to future services 

(estimated cash flows and risk adjustment) and the remaining contractual service margin at 

that date; 

▪ the liability for incurred claims includes the estimation of future cash flows and the risk 

adjustment for incurred claims (including claims incurred but not yet reported and related 

expenses still payable), without any contractual service margin. 

The assumptions used to estimate future cash flows and the adjustment for non-financial risk are 

updated, as well as the discount rate, to reflect the situation at the reporting date. 

Changes relating to future services are adjusted against the contractual service margin (or recognised 

as “insurance service result ” in the income statement if the group of contracts is onerous). 

Changes relating current or past services are recognised in the “Insurance service result” of the period.  

The effects of time value of money, financial risks and their impacts on future cash flow estimates are 

recognised in “insurance finance income or expense”. 

The contractual service margin is adjusted for changes in the estimation of non-financial assumptions 

relating to future services, is capitalised at the initial discount rate, then is released to the income 

statement in respect of services provided during the period in “Insurance service result”. Acquisition 

cash flows deducted from the contractual service margin are released at the same rate as the 

contractual service margin. 

In the case of contracts becoming onerous, after consumption of the margin on contractual services, the 

loss is recognised over the period. In the case of onerous contracts that become profitable again 

resulting from favourable changes in assumptions, the contractual service margin is only reconstituted 

after offsetting the loss component. 

Derecognition and modification 

A contract is derecognised when: 
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▪ the obligation arising from the contract is extinguished, i.e. when the corresponding obligation 

expires, is discharged or cancelled; or 

▪ the terms of the contract are amended in such a way that the accounting for the contract would 

have been substantially altered if those new terms had been provided for in the original 

contract. 

If contract amendments do not cause the contract to be derecognised, the resulting changes in cash 

flows are treated as changes in estimated cash flows. 

On derecognition of a contract within a group of contracts not measured by premium allocation method: 

▪ the fulfilments cash flows allocated to the group are adjusted to eliminate those relating to the 

derecognised contract; 

▪ the contractual service margin of the group is adjusted for the change in fulfilment cash flows, 

unless these changes are allocated to a loss component, and 

▪ the number of coverage units linked to the expected remaining services is adjusted to reflect 

the coverage units derecognised from the group. 

If a contract is derecognised due to its transfer to a third party, the contractual services margin of the 

group is also adjusted for the premium charged by the third party. 

If a contract is derecognised because its terms are modified, the contractual service margin of the group 

is adjusted for the premium that would have been charged had a similar contract been concluded. The 

new recognised contract is measured as if the corresponding premium had been received on the 

modification date. 

 

For non-profit-sharing insurance contracts, at each reporting date, the opening balance of the 

contractual service margin of a group of contracts is adjusted by: 

▪ the effect of new contracts added to the group during the period; 

▪ interest accreted on the contractual service margin during the year, using the initial discount 

rate; 

▪ changes in fulfilment cash flows related to future services, unless: 

o the increase in cash flows exceeding the carrying amount of the contractual service margin 

gives rise to a loss recorded in profit or loss and the creation of a loss component, or 

o the decrease in fulfilment cash flows is allocated to the loss component, leading to a 

reversal of the loss previously recognised in profit or loss; 

▪ the effect of currency exchange differences on the contractual service margin; 

▪ the amount recognised as income from insurance activities due to the provision of services 

under insurance contracts during the period. 

The release of expected fulfilment cash flows for the period and the variation of past service estimates 

are recorded in “Insurance service result”. Actual fulfilment cash flows are recorded as “insurance 

service expenses”. The difference between the expected and actual amounts is the experience 

adjustment which is part of the profit or loss for the period. 

BNP Paribas Cardif records in equity the effect of the change in the discount rate. The passage of time 

is recognised as “insurance finance income or expense” based on the original rate (initial rate for the 
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liability for remaining coverage and rate on the date of occurrence for the liability for incurred claims). 

The difference between the value of liabilities discounted at a fixed rate at inception and the value of 

those same liabilities estimated using current discount rates is recognised in equity. The effect on 

liabilities of changes in financial variables, in particular the indexation of benefits under the contract, is 

also recognised in equity. 

For these contracts, BNP Paribas Cardif uses a method based on the premium risk earned as the 

coverage units for the release of the contractual service margin, considering that this approach was in 

line with the various methods adopted at the Transition Resource Group meeting in May 2018 and 

represents a good representation of the risk coverage borne by the insured (and thus of the service 

provided). This method is derived from the method previously used under IFRS 4 to determine the rate 

at which premiums are earned based on changes in the risk profile. Other methods may be used if it is 

shown that they lead to comparable results. 

Certain profit-sharing contracts issued by Cardif Vie Taiwan branch are measured under the general 

model, with coverage units and a risk adjustment determined according to terms similar to those of the 

variable fee model. 

Changes in the fulfilment cash flows related to future services include: 

▪ experience adjustments arising from premiums received during the year for future services 

and associated cash flows, measured at the discount rates determined at initial recognition; 

▪ changes in estimates of the present value of the future cash flows in the liability for remaining 

coverage, measured at the discount rates determined on initial recognition, with the exception 

of those arising from the effects of time value of money, of the financial risk and its changes; 

▪ experience adjustments on investment components and policy loans granted to a policyholder; 

▪ changes in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk related to future services. 

Changes in discretionary cash flows are considered as related to future services and therefore adjust 

the contractual service margin. 

For contracts measured under the general model, the determination of portfolios and groups of contracts, 

the determination of the contract boundaries of these groups, the estimation of future cash flows (claims, 

operating expenses), the choice of the discount rate, the quantile for the risk adjustment and the 

coverage unit to reflect the services rendered are significant judgements or estimates. 

 

Direct profit-sharing contracts measured under the VFA are insurance or investment contracts for which: 

▪ the contractual terms specify that the policyholder participates in a share of a clearly defined 

pool of underlying assets; 

▪ the insurer expects to pay the policyholder an amount equal to a substantial share of the return 

on the fair value of the underlying assets; 

▪ the insurer expects that any variation in the amounts to be paid to the policyholder shall be 

substantially attributable to the variation in the fair value of the underlying assets. 

The assessment of the compliance with these conditions is performed at the inception date and is not 

reviewed subsequently.  
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For these contracts, for which the insurer must pay the policyholder an amount equal to the fair value of 

clearly identified underlying assets minus a variable fee for service, a specific model (called the “variable 

fee method”) was developed by adapting the general model. 

BNP Paribas Cardif assesses as direct profit-sharing contracts: 

▪ insurance contracts and investment contracts with discretionary profit-sharing backed by a 

share of a general fund, or by assets ring-fenced analytically, contractually, or regulatorily, 

▪ unit-linked contracts with a minimum guarantee and multi-investment contracts including a 

general-fund component. 

In France, the underlying items of non-unit linked direct profit-sharing contracts include a share of assets 

backing the “capitalisation reserve” set up in the statutory financial statements (and cancelled in the 

IFRS accounts). This share is determined based on the breakdown of the capital gains on bonds 

included in the underlying assets and impacting the “capitalisation reserve” (in the statutory financial 

statements), which is distributed between the Best Estimate and the contractual service margin from the 

portion of the “capitalisation reserve” allocated to analytical, contractual or regulatory asset groups in 

the statutory financial statements, which therefore constitute the basis for calculating the policyholders’ 

participation. 

At each reporting date, the liabilities for these contracts are adjusted for the realised yield and changes 

in the fair value of the underlying assets: the policyholders’ share is recorded in the fulfilment cash flows 

through the insurance finance income, and insurer’s share equal to the variable fee increases the 

contractual service margin. 

The contractual service margin is also adjusted for the effect of changes in fulfilment cash flows that do 

not vary directly with the underlying assets and that relate to future services: estimates of cash flows, 

risk adjustment, changes in the time value of money and changes in the financial risks that do not result 

from the underlying assets (for instance, the effect of financial guarantees). 

Changes in fulfilment cash flows that do not vary with changes in the yields of underlying assets and 

that relate to past service events are recognised in  profit or loss. 

Due to the mechanism for allocating the change in the value of the underlying assets between 

policyholders and insurer, the result of these contracts is in principle mainly represented by the 

amortisation of the contractual service margin, the release of the risk adjustment and experience 

differences not allocated to the contractual service margin. When the underlying assets fully back the 

liabilities and are measured at fair value through profit or loss, the financial result under these contracts 

should be nil. 

BNP Paribas Cardif has chosen to apply the option to reclassify in equity the change in the liabilities of 

direct profit-sharing contracts backed by the underlying assets not measured at fair value through profit 

or loss. 

For direct profit-sharing insurance contracts, the change in the contractual service margin is therefore 

the result of: 

▪ the effect of new contracts added to the group; 

▪ the change in the amount of the insurer’s share of the fair value of the underlying assets; 

▪ the changes in the fulfilment cash flows related to future services; 

▪ where applicable, the effect of any currency exchange differences on the contractual service 

margin; 
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▪ the release of the contractual services margin. 

Life and savings contracts meeting the above definition of direct profit-sharing contracts are measured 

using the variable fee method. When these contracts include a surrender value, it meets the definition 

of a non-distinct investment component and changes in that investment component (and in particular 

related payments) are therefore not recognised in the income statement. 

BNP Paribas Cardif has chosen to apply the option introduced by the European regulation not to divide 

the portfolios of participating contracts based on intergenerational mutualisation by annual cohort (see 

above). This option is applied to insurance contracts and investment contracts with discretionary profit-

sharing that are eligible to the variable fee model, non-unit linked products or multi-investments including 

an euro component, for which the policyholders’ profit-sharing is mutualised between different 

generations of policyholders, in France, Italy and Luxembourg. As a result, the assessment of the 

profitability is made on the basis of the portfolio and not on the basis of the annual cohorts. 

The contract boundary includes future premiums as long as the applicable pricing is not modifiable (e.g. 

acquisition or management fees), as well as the annuity phase in service when contracts provide for a 

mandatory annuity exit. 

The discount rate is based on the risk-free rate, extrapolated over time beyond observable inputs and 

adjusted for a liquidity premium based on the underlying assets in order to take into account the illiquidity 

of the liabilities. 

The risk adjustment is determined according to the cost of capital method, including future premiums 

but without taking into account the risk of a massive surrender. 

The coverage unit used by BNP Paribas Cardif to release the contractual service margin corresponds 

to the change in savings belonging to policyholders (determined at current value), adjusted to take into 

account the impact of the expected real return on the underlying financial or real estate investments 

compared to the neutral-risk actuarial projection. This "Over return” approach has been developed in 

order to correct the discrepancies found between "neutral risk” actuarial models and "real world” data. 

It captures the outperformance effect of the real return on assets relative to a neutral risk projection. For 

its implementation, the coverage unit is the contract’s mathematical reserve, adjusted by a coefficient 

reflecting the difference in performance between the two models, which is calculated at the end of each 

accounting period for the past period and the remaining coverage of the contracts. The main financial 

assumptions underlying the determination of the expected actual financial performance are those used 

by the BNP Paribas Group for the strategic plan. Beyond this horizon, the rate and yield assumptions 

used are determined in line with those underlying the neutral risk projection. 

For these contracts, the breakdown by portfolio, the economic scenarios used to estimate the future 

returns on the underlying investments (and hence the share belonging to policyholders and the insurer), 

the duration of contracts (and in particular the repayment and surrender assumptions), the choice of the 

discount rate, the level of capital required for the risk adjustment and, finally, the choice of the coverage 

unit to reflect the services provided, including the outperformance of the actual return relative to the 

neutral risk, are significant judgments or estimates. 

 

Short-term contracts (less than one year) may be measured and accounted for using a simplified 

approach referred to as the “premium allocation method”, which is also applicable to longer-term 
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contracts if it leads to similar results than those of the general model for the measurement of the liability 

for remaining coverage. 

Creditor protection insurance, protection and other non-life insurance contracts, and reinsurance 

contracts accepted or held, are measured using the simplified approach if the conditions are met. 

For profitable contracts, the liability for the remaining coverage is measured based on unearned 

premiums, following a logic like that previously used under IFRS 4. Onerous contracts and liabilities for 

incurred claims are measured under the general model. 

If, during the hedging period, the facts and circumstances indicate that a group of insurance contracts 

is onerous, BNP Paribas Cardif recognises a loss in the income statement and increases the liability for  

remaining coverage by the amount of the expected loss. 

BNP Paribas Cardif has opted to carry forward acquisition cash flows over the duration of the coverage 

(these costs are therefore deducted from the deferred premiums). 

For these contracts, the allocation of premiums for services provided during the period is based on an 

approach of the emergence profile of the risks covered, which may be linear or non-linear depending on 

the nature of the guarantees and the method of collection of the premiums. 

Liabilities for incurred claims are discounted if the expected settlement of claims takes place one year 

after the date of occurrence. The passage of time is recognised as insurance finance income or expense 

as in the general model. In this case, the option of classifying the effect of changes in the discount rate 

and financial variables into equity, in particular the indexation of the benefits provided under the contract, 

is also applicable. BNP Paribas Cardif has retained this option for incurred claims. 

At each reporting date, the adjustment of the remaining coverage and incurred claims is recognised in 

profit or loss. 

For these contracts, eligibility for the premium allocation method for contracts of more than one year 

and the estimation of future cash flows are significant judgements or estimates. 

 

In the case of contracts acquired by transfer of portfolio or business combination within the scope of 

IFRS 3, the provisions relating to the definition of groups of contracts acquired shall apply as if the 

contracts had been issued on the date of the transaction. 

The consideration received or paid in exchange for the contracts (or the fair value in the case of a 

business combination) is used as an approximation of the premiums received to calculate the 

contractual service margin at the initial recognition date. Liabilities transferred in respect of incurred 

claims with the previous insurer are treated as liabilities for remaining coverage at the level of the buyer. 

As part of a business combination, when insurance contracts acquired turn out to be onerous, the excess 

of fulfilment cash flows over the fair value of the contracts is recognised in goodwill or as gain in the 

profit or loss if it results from an acquisition on advantageous terms. 

In the case of a portfolio transfer, where there is a loss on the transferred insurance contracts issued, 

the excess of the fulfilment cash flows over the consideration paid or received is recognised as a loss 

net income. 



 

 

 57 

In addition, an asset for acquisition cash flows must be recognised, at fair value, for the acquisition costs 

related to the renewal of existing insurance contracts or the acquisition costs already paid by the 

acquired company for future contracts. 

The subsequent measurement of portfolios of insurance contracts and investment contracts with 

discretionary profit-sharing  follows the general principle of recognition as described in the previous 

sections. 

 

Reinsurance contracts are contracts issued by one entity (the reinsurer) to indemnify another entity for 

claims arising from one or more insurance contracts issued by that other entity (underlying contracts). 

Even if a reinsurance contract does not expose the issuer to a significant risk of loss, it is considered to 

transfer a significant insurance risk if it transfers substantially all of the insurance risk relating to the 

reinsured portion of the underlying insurance contracts to the reinsurer. 

BNP Paribas Cardif accepts the material insurance risk of other insurers (accepted reinsurance) and 

holds contracts whereby it transfers material insurance risk to other insurers (ceded reinsurance ). 

 

Insurance premiums, claims and liabilities transferred through ceded reinsurance transactions are 

determined based on the reinsurance agreements, using the accounting and measurement rules 

applicable to insurance contracts without elements of direct profit-sharing, modified as follows. 

A group of reinsurance contracts held (reinsurance ceded) is recognised on the earliest of the following 

dates: 

▪ the beginning of the coverage period of the group of reinsurance contracts held and 

▪ the date on which a group of onerous underlying insurance contracts is recognised, if the entity 

has concluded the corresponding reinsurance contract held on or before that date. 

BNP Paribas Cardif mainly holds proportional reinsurance contracts. Their date of initial recognition is 

deferred to the date of initial recognition of any underlying insurance contract, if that date is later than 

the start of the coverage period of the group of reinsurance contracts held. 

For ceded reinsurance contracts, cash flows are within the contract scope, if they arise from substantial 

rights and obligations that exist during the reporting period in which BNP Paribas Cardif is obliged to 

pay sums to reinsurers or has a substantial right to receive services from the reinsurers. 

The carrying amount of a group of reinsurance contracts held is the sum of the assets or liabilities for 

remaining coverage and incurred claims. The asset or liability for remaining coverage consists of the 

fulfilment cash flows related to the expected future services and the remaining contractual service 

margin at that date. 

The assumptions used to estimate the present value of the future cash flows of the group of reinsurance 

contracts shall be consistent with those used for the underlying contracts. 
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In the case of reinsurance contracts held, unlike insurance contracts issued, the estimates of the future 

cash flows of the group of reinsurance contracts reflect the effect of the issuer’s non-performance risk 

(including the effect of guarantees and litigation losses), adjusted on at each reporting date through the 

income statement. 

The risk adjustment for non-financial risk corresponds to the amount of risk transferred by the holder to 

the issuer of the reinsurance contracts. 

On initial recognition of a reinsurance contract held, the contractual service margin represents a profit 

or a net cost on the acquisition of the reinsurance. Unlike the insurance contracts issued, it can therefore 

be negative. 

During the subsequent measurement, the contract service margin is treated as in the general model. 

The reinsurance contracts held are measured by the group using the simplified approach or the general 

model. The variable fee method is not allowed for these contracts. 

Reinsurance contracts issued are recognised as insurance contracts. The measurement and accounting 

provisions are similar except as follows: reinsurance contracts issued may not be insurance contracts 

with direct profit-sharing. 

 

BNP Paribas Cardif group has chosen the option to modify the treatment of the accounting estimates 

set out in its previous interim financial statements in its subsequent interim financial statements and in 

its annual financial statements. Since BNP Paribas Cardif does not currently publish interim financial 

statements, this option applies to the quarterly reporting to BNP Paribas Group.  

 

In the balance sheet, the carrying amount is shown separately between assets and liabilities: 

▪ portfolios of insurance (and reinsurance) contracts issued, determined as the sum of the 

technical reserves for remaining coverage and for incurred claims that are in an active global 

position or that are in a passive global position; 

▪ portfolio of reinsurance contracts held (ceded) that are in an overall asset position or are in an 

overall liability position. 

Assets related to acquisition cash flows are presented with the carrying amount of the portfolios of 

contracts that include the contracts to which they relate. 

BNP Paribas Cardif has elected to present on the balance sheet the premiums receivable from 

policyholders and intermediaries, as well as the amounts due to them, as a deduction from the liabilities 

(or assets) of the insurance and investment contracts to which they relate. Regarding the premiums 

receivable from intermediaries, this accounting policy choice complies with one of the two options 

authorised by IFRS IC. 
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Policy loans granted to policyholders on savings contracts are also shown as a deduction from the 

liabilities (or assets) of the contracts concerned, since if these advances/loans are not repaid before the 

end of the contract, they will be offset against the benefits due to policyholders. 

In the case of a foreign entity which is subject to the advance payment to a tax authority in a third country 

of a tax representative of the withholding tax which will be charged on non-resident insured persons 

when the benefits are paid, the tax credit is also shown as a deduction from insurance liabilities to the 

extent that the entity concerned is unable to use this tax credit to offset other tax debts with the same 

tax authority. Other entities subject to the same tax present this tax advance as a tax asset because 

they use this credit as a deduction for other tax debts. 

 

The amounts recognised in the statements of net income and other comprehensive income are split 

between: 

▪ the result of insurance activities, consisting of income from insurance activities and expenses 

arising from insurance activities, and 

▪ insurance finance income or expenses. 

All income and expenses arising from reinsurance contracts held are presented at their net amount as 

permitted by IAS 1. 

Changes in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk are not broken down between the result of 

insurance activities and insurance finance income or expenses. They are included as a whole in the 

profit or loss from insurance activities. 

Non-distinct investment components are excluded from revenue and expenses arising from insurance 

activities. 

 

Insurance revenue is recognised as income as the services are rendered. They consist of the following: 

▪ the release of expected fulfilment cash flows for the current period (excluding investment 

components); 

▪ the change in the risk adjustment for non-financial risks related to current services; 

▪ the release of the contractual service margin for current services measured on the basis of 

the coverage units; 

▪ the amount allocated to amortisation of acquisition costs; 

▪ the amortisation of the loss component; 

▪ other amounts, e.g. experience adjustments arising from premium receipts other than those 

relating to future services. 

In addition, at each reporting period, the portion of premiums corresponding to the recovery of cash 

flows related to acquisition costs is systematically recognised in the insurance revenue reflecting the 

passage of time. BNP Paribas Cardif has adopted a recovery method based on coverage units. 
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The amount to be recognised in profit or loss for the release of the contractual service margin is 

determined as follows: 

▪ after identifying the coverage units of the group of contracts, the contractual service margin is 

divided between the coverage units provided for the current period and those to be provided 

subsequently; the number of coverage units corresponds to the quantity of benefits provided 

under the contracts (cf. section on the subsequent measurement of contracts without direct 

profit-sharing and with direct profit-sharing); 

▪ the amount allocated to the coverage units provided in the period is recognised as insurance 

revenue. 

In the case of insurance contracts, the services provided correspond to the insurance coverage. 

In the case of contracts with direct profit-sharing, they correspond mainly to investment-related services, 

in particular the management of the underlying assets on behalf of policyholder of the contract. 

 

For contracts measured under the premium allocation approach, the insurance revenue for the period 

is the amount of the premiums already received or expected to be received, allocated to the period using 

a risk profile approach (see above). 

For onerous contracts, a loss component of the liability for remaining coverage is determined and 

recognised in the income statement. This loss element is subsequently reversed to profit or loss over 

the term of the coverage or if the contracts become profitable again. If the loss element is reduced to 

zero, a new contractual service margin is reconstituted. 

 

Insurance service expenses are recognised in profit or loss as they are incurred. They exclude 

repayments of investment components and include the following items: 

▪ incurred claims and other expenses incurred related to insurance activities; 

▪ amortisation of insurance acquisition costs; 

▪ losses on onerous contracts and reversal of such losses; 

▪ adjustments to the liability for incurred claims that do not arise from the effects of the time 

value of money or financial risk; 

▪ impairments on assets for insurance acquisition costs and reversals of such impairments. 

 

Insurance finance income and expenses comprise changes in the carrying amounts of the group of 

insurance and reinsurance contracts arising from the effects of the time value of money, financial risk 

and their changes. However, changes in a loss component for direct investment contracts are included 

in insurance service expenses. 
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BNP Paribas Cardif has chosen to disaggregate insurance finance income or expenses between profit 

or loss and other comprehensive income. 

In the case of contracts measured under the general model, the amount recognised in other 

comprehensive income is the difference between the amount of insurance liabilities measured at current 

rates and the amount determined using the following rates: 

▪ for liability for remaining coverage, at the initial discount rate; 

▪ for incurred claims, at the discount rate at the date of the occurrence of the claim. 

The effect on liabilities of changes in financial variables, in particular the indexation of benefits under 

the contract, is also recognised in  equity. 

The amount recorded in shareholder’s equity is recognised in the income statement according to the 

passage of time. In addition, in the event of a transfer or amendment of a contract leading to its 

derecognition, the corresponding portion of the amount shown as other items in the comprehensive 

income is reclassified to profit or loss. 

In the case of direct profit-sharing contracts, the amount included in other comprehensive income 

corresponds to the amount needed to avoid a mismatch between: 

▪ the change in insurance liabilities related to the performance of the underlying assets held and 

▪ income or expenses recognised in profit of loss in respect of these underlying items. 

For non-profit-sharing and non-life contracts, insurance finance income or expenses are presented in 

net income. 

 

Net income or expenses from reinsurance contracts held include an allocation of reinsurance premiums 

paid less amounts recovered from the reinsurer. 

Reinsurance premiums paid are recognised in profit or loss based on the services received during the 

period. 

BNP Paribas Cardif has chosen to present the expenses and income from reinsurance contracts held 

in a net amount, as permitted by IAS 1. 

Where a group of reinsurance contracts covers onerous underlying insurance contracts, the amount of 

the reinsured loss is presented as a “loss-recovery component” asset and is recognised as a revenue 

in the income statement. 

In subsequent measurement, the loss-recovery component is adjusted to reflect changes in the loss 

component of onerous underlying contracts but may not exceed the portion of the loss component of 

the underlying contracts recoverable from the reinsurance contracts. 

 PROVISIONS FOR CONTINGENCIES AND CHARGES 

Provisions for contingencies and charges are intended to cover clearly identified risks and expenses 

made probable by events that have occurred or are in progress at the end of the financial year but whose 

timing and amount are uncertain. 
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A provision is recognised when it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits 

will be required to settle an obligation arising from a past event, and when a reliable estimate can be 

made of the amount of the obligation. The amount of this obligation is discounted to determine the 

amount of the provision as soon as the impact of discounting is significant. 

At closing date, provisions for contingencies and charges are determined based on the best estimate of 

the expenditure required to extinguish the obligation existing at that date. 

Provisions recorded as liabilities in the Group’s balance sheet, other than those relating to financial 

instruments, employee benefits and insurance contracts, mainly relate to restructuring, litigation, fines 

and penalties. 

 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

Employee benefits provided by the group are classified in one of four categories: 

▪ short-term benefits, such as salary, annual leave, incentive plans, profit-sharing and additional 

payments; 

▪ long-term benefits, including compensated absences, long-service awards, and other types of 

cash-based deferred compensation; 

▪ termination benefits; 

▪ post-employment benefits, including retirement bonuses in France and pension plans in other 

countries, some of which are operated through pension funds. 

 

The group recognises an expense when it has used services rendered by employees in exchange for 

employee benefits. 

 

These are benefits, other than short-term benefits, post-employment benefits and termination benefits. 

This relates in particular to compensation deferred for more than 12 months and not linked to the 

BNP Paribas share price, which is accrued in the financial statements for the period in which it is earned. 

The actuarial techniques used are similar to those used for defined post-employment benefits, except 

that the revaluation items are recognised in the income statement and not in equity. 

 

Termination benefits are employee benefits payable in exchange for the termination of an employee’s 

contract as a result of either a decision by the group to terminate a contract of employment before the 

legal retirement age, or a decision by an employee to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for 

compensation. 

Termination benefits due more than 12 months after the closing date are discounted. 
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In accordance with IFRS, the group draws a distinction between defined-contribution plans and defined-

benefit plans. 

Defined-contribution plans do not give rise to an obligation for the group and do not require a provision. 

The amount of the employer’s contributions payable during the period is recognised as an expense. 

Only defined-benefit schemes give rise to an obligation for the group. This obligation must be measured 

and recognised as a liability by means of a provision. 

The classification of plans into these two categories is based on the economic substance of the plan, 

which determines whether the group has a legal or constructive obligation to pay the agreed benefits to 

employees. 

Post-employment benefit obligations under defined-benefit plans are measured using actuarial 

techniques that take demographic and financial assumptions into account. 

The net liability recognised with respect to post-employment benefit plans is the difference between the 

present value of the defined-benefit obligation and the fair value of any plan assets if existing. 

The present value of the defined-benefit obligation is measured based on the actuarial assumptions 

applied by the group, using the projected unit credit method. 

This method takes into account various parameters, specific to each country or group entity, such as 

demographic assumptions, the probability that employees will leave before retirement age, salary 

inflation, a discount rate, and the general inflation rate. These parameters are specified in the note 

relating to obligations under defined-benefit plans and other post-employment benefits. 

When the value of the plan assets exceeds the amount of the obligation, an asset is recognised if it 

represents a future economic benefit for the group in the form of a reduction in future contributions or a 

future partial refund of amounts paid into the plan. 

The annual expense recognised in the income statement (and presented in the notes) as salaries and 

employee benefits, with respect to defined-benefit plans includes the current service cost (the rights 

vested by each employee during the period in return for service rendered), the net interests linked to the 

effect of discounting the net defined-benefit liability (asset), the past service cost arising from plan 

amendments or curtailments, and the effect of any plan settlements. 

In the case of plans that provide for progressive rights to benefits that will only be paid upon actual 

retirement, but where the number of years for which the rights can be taken into account is capped, the 

rights to benefits are recognised on a straight-line basis, taking into account the number of capped years 

up to the date of retirement. 

Remeasurements of the net defined-benefit liability (asset) are recognised in shareholders’ equity and 

are never reclassified to profit or loss. They include actuarial gains and losses, the return on plan assets 

and any changes in the effect of asset ceiling (excluding amounts included in net interest on the defined-

benefit liability or asset). 
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 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 

Share-based payment transactions are payments based on shares issued by the group, whether the 

transaction is settled in the form of equity or cash of which the amount is based on changes in the share 

price.  

BNP Paribas Group grants employees stock subscription option plans and deferred share-based or 

share price-linked cash-settled compensation plans and offers them the possibility to purchase specially 

issued BNP Paribas shares at a discount, on condition that they retain the shares for a specified period. 

Some BNP Paribas Cardif employees have benefited from such plans in the past. 

IFRS 2 requires share-based payments granted after 7 November 2002 to be recognised as an expense. 

The amount recognised is the value of the share-based payment granted to employees. 

 CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAXES 

 

The current income tax charge is determined based on the tax laws and tax rates in force in each country 

in which the group operates during the period in which the income is generated. 

 

Deferred taxes are recognised when temporary differences arise between the carrying amount of an 

asset or liability in the balance sheet and its tax base. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences other than: 

▪ taxable temporary differences on initial recognition of goodwill; 

▪ taxable temporary differences on investments in enterprises under the exclusive or joint control 

of the group, where the group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary 

difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the near future. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences and unused carry forwards 

of tax losses only to the extent that it is probable that the entity in question will generate future taxable 

profits against which these temporary differences and tax losses can be offset. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the liability method, using the tax rate that is 

expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates 

and tax laws that have been or will have been enacted by the balance sheet date of that period. They 

are not discounted. If it is not possible to determine reliably the rates applicable on the date of reversal 

of the time difference, the current rate shall be used. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they arise within the same tax group, they fall under 

the jurisdiction of a single tax authority, and there is a legal right to offset. 

As regards the assessment of uncertainty over income tax treatments, the group adopts the following 

approach:  
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▪ the group assesses whether it is probable that a taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax 

treatment;  

▪ any uncertainty shall be reflected when determining the taxable profit (loss) by considering 

either the most likely amount (having the higher probability of occurrence), or the expected 

value (sum of the probability-weighted amounts). 

 

Current and deferred taxes are recognised as tax income or expenses in the income statement, except 

for current and deferred taxes relating to a transaction or an event directly recognised in shareholders’ 

equity, which are also charged to shareholders’ equity. 

When tax credits on revenues from receivables and securities are used to settle corporate income tax 

payable for the period, the tax credits are recognised on the same line as the income to which they 

relate. The corresponding tax expense continues to be carried in the income statement under “Corporate 

income tax”. 

 LEASES 

Group companies may either the lessee or the lessor in an operating lease. 

 

An operating lease is a lease under which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of an 

asset are not transferred to the lessee.  

The main contracts in which BNP Paribas Cardif acts as lessor are leases on investment properties. 

Rental income for investment properties are presented in “Investment income” and depreciation of the 

buildings valued at cost in “Investment expenses”.  

 

Lease contracts concluded by the group, with the exception of contracts whose term is shorter than or 

equal to 12 months and low-value contracts, are recognised in the balance-sheet in the form of a right-

of-use of the leased asset presented under fixed assets, along with the recognition of a financial liability 

for the rent and other payments to be made over the term of the lease. The right-of-use asset is 

amortised on a straight-line basis and the financial liabilities are amortised on an actuarial basis over 

the term of the lease. Dismantling costs corresponding to specific and significant fittings and fixtures are 

included in the initial right-of-use estimation, by offsetting the provisions for liabilities. 
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 INCOME FROM REGULAR ACTIVITIES IN CONTRACTS WITH 

CUSTOMERS 

Income from services is in the scope of IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”. The group 

records the revenue in profit or loss as the service is rendered, for instance in proportion to the costs 

incurred (or the statistical estimate of these costs) for car maintenance contracts. 

 NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE AND DISCONTINUED 

OPERATIONS  

Where the group decides to sell assets or a group of assets and liabilities and it is highly probable that 

the sale will occur within 12 months, these assets are shown separately in the balance sheet, under the 

caption “Assets held for sale”. Any liabilities associated with these assets are also shown separately in 

the balance sheet, under the caption “Liabilities associated with assets held for sale”. When the group 

is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control of a subsidiary and the sale is highly probable within 

12 months, all the assets and liabilities of that subsidiary are classified as held for sale. 

Once classified in this category, assets and the group of assets and liabilities are measured at the lower 

of carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell. 

Such assets are no longer depreciated or amortised. If an asset or group of assets and liabilities 

becomes impaired, an impairment is recognised in the income statement. Impairments may be reversed.  

In addition, where a group of assets and liabilities held for sale represents a cash-generating unit, it is 

categorised as a discontinued operation. Discontinued operations include operations that are held for 

sale, operations that have been shut down, and subsidiaries acquired exclusively with a view to resell.  

All gains and losses related to discontinued operations are shown separately in the income statement, 

on the line “Post-tax gain/loss on discontinued operations and assets held for sale”. This line includes 

the post-tax profits or losses of discontinued operations, the post-tax gain or loss arising from revaluation 

at fair value less costs to sell, and the post-tax gain or loss on disposal of the operation.  

 USE OF ESTIMATES IN THE PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS 

Preparation of the financial statements requires managers of core businesses and corporate functions 

to make assumptions and estimates that are reflected in the measurement of income and expense in 

the income statement and of assets and liabilities in the balance sheet, and in the disclosure of 

information in the notes to the financial statements. This requires that the managers rely on their 

judgement and use information available at the date of the preparation of the financial statements when 

making their estimates. The actual future results from operations where managers have used estimates 

may in reality differ significantly from those estimates, mainly according to market conditions. This may 

have a material impact on the financial statements.  

The following examples are among the exogenous factors that may influence future results: 

▪ national and international financial market activities; 
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▪ fluctuations in interest rates and foreign exchange rates; 

▪ economic and political conditions in certain business sectors or countries; 

▪ changes in laws or regulations; 

▪ behaviour of policyholders; 

▪ demographic changes. 

The exercise of judgement and the formulation of assumptions applies in particular to:  

▪ the analysis of the cash flow criterion for specific financial assets;  

▪ the measurement of expected credit losses. This applies in particular to the assessment of 

significant increase in credit risk, the models and assumptions used to measure expected 

credit losses, the determination of the different economic scenarios and their weighting;  

▪ the analysis of renegotiated loans, in order to assess whether they should be maintained on 

the balance sheet or derecognised;  

▪ the assessment of an active market, and the use of internally developed models for the 

measurement of the fair value of financial instruments not quoted in an active market classified 

in “Financial assets at fair value through equity”, or in “Financial instruments at fair value 

through profit or loss”, whether as assets or liabilities, and more generally calculations of the 

fair value of financial instruments subject to a fair value disclosure requirement;  

▪ the assumptions applied to assess the sensitivity to each type of market risk of the fair value 

of financial instruments and the sensitivity of these valuations to the main unobservable inputs 

as disclosed in the notes to the financial statements;  

▪ the appropriateness of the designation of certain derivative instruments such as cash flow 

hedges, and the measurement of hedge effectiveness;  

▪ impairment tests performed on intangible assets;  

▪ the estimation of residual assets values under simple lease agreements. These values are 

used as a basis for the determination of depreciation as well as any impairment, notably in 

relation to the effect of environmental considerations on the evaluation of future prices of 

second-hand vehicles;  

▪ the deferred tax assets;  

▪ the measurement of insurance and investment contracts with discretionary profit-sharing 

liabilities and assets, by groups of contracts, on the basis of discounted and probability 

weighted future fulfilment cash flows, based on assumptions that can be derived from market 

or entity-specific data, and the recognition of the results of such contracts on the basis of the 

services rendered over the coverage period. The main judgments or estimates are specified 

at the level of each evaluation model. 

▪ the measurement of uncertainty over income tax treatments and other provisions for 

contingencies and charges. In particular, while investigations and litigations are ongoing, it is 

difficult to foresee their outcome and potential impact. Provision estimation is established by 

taking into account all available information at the date of the preparation of the financial 

statements, in particular the nature of the dispute, the underlying facts, the ongoing legal 

proceedings and court decisions, including those related to similar cases. The group may also 

use the opinion of experts and independent legal advisers to exercise its judgement.  
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 CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

The cash flow statement is prepared using the indirect as this method is generally used by insurance 

groups. 

 

All investment-related flows, including flows of securities classified as “held to collect and sale”, are 

presented as investment transactions in the cash flow statement. 

This classification differs from the one adopted for the income statement, in which, in accordance with 

the approach commonly used by insurance groups, income from financial investments is presented in 

operating income. This presentation, which is consistent with the one adopted by banking sector groups, 

allows for more consistent cash flow statement presentation for bancassurance groups. 

 

In accordance with the provisions of IAS 7 "Statement of Cash Flows" for financial institutions, dividends 

and interest received are presented as operating cash flows. 

 

In addition to the flows related to investments broken down into acquisitions and disposals, this heading 

includes: 

▪ acquisitions and disposals of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment (excluding 

investment properties), including revenues (net of expenses) for those investments; 

▪ changes in the scope of consolidation. 

 

This section includes only financing transactions, excluding investment-related transactions. 
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NOTE 2 

 YIELD CURVES 

The table below presents the average discount rates used in the measurement of savings and protection 

contracts for the main maturities of the euro curve. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Savings and Protection discount rate curves differ because the illiquidity premiums for the liabilities 

are not identical.  

For more details on the calculation of the discount rate by type of contracts, refer to note 1.12.2 Discount 

rate. 

 LEVEL OF THE CONFIDENCE RANGE USED TO DETERMINE THE 

ADJUSTMENT FOR NON-FINANCIAL RISKS 

For savings contracts measured under the variable fee approach, the risk adjustment is determined 

according to the cost of capital method by including free payments and excluding massive surrenders.  

It is measured within a confidence interval of 60-70%.  This was 65% at 31 December 2023 (64% at 31 

December 2022). 

For protection contracts measured under the general model and for liabilities for incurred claims under 

the simplified approach, the level of confidence used to determine the adjustment for the non-financial 

risks of the main countries is 70% (based on the quantile method). 

  

Savings Protection Savings

1  Year 4,00% 3,36% 3,64%

5  Years 2,96% 2,32% 3,60%

10  Years 3,03% 2,39% 3,56%

15  Years 3,10% 2,47% 3,50%

20  Years 3,04% 2,41% 3,29%

40 Years 3,04% 3,10%

2,67%

2,92%

3,07%

3,07%

2,85%

In millions of euros

December 31, 2023

December 31, 2022

Restated following 

IFRS 17 et 9

Protection
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 ACTUAL ECONOMIC HYPOTHESIS 

The main “Real World” economic assumptions underlying the «Over return» method (described in the 

Accounting Principles in section 1.12.2 "the subsequent valuation of insurance contracts with direct 

profit-sharing valued according to the variable fee approach (VFA) model") used on 31 December 2023 

are presented below.  

These economic assumptions, in particular rates, correspond to the end-of-period rates. 

 

 

31 December2023 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(*) Beyond 2026, rates are calculated using a forward rate realisation approach. 

(**) Beyond 2026, yields are based on historical data. 

 

31 December 2022 
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NOTE 3 

The transition to IFRS 9, IFRS 17 and amendments to other standards related to the transition to IFRS 

17 are set out in Note 1.1.3. 

The main effects of these changes are detailed in the tables below. 

 

 IMPACT OF THE IMPLEMENTATION OF IFRS 9 AND IFRS 17 ON THE 

BALANCE SHEET AT 31/12/2022 
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The balance sheet transition table above is presented before reclassification of assets and liabilities to 

be sold in separate aggregates under IFRS 5. 

The transition from IFRS 4 to IFRS 17 led to the cancellation of insurance contract assets and liabilities 

recognised under the previous standard, net of deferred tax, by offsetting them against shareholders' 

equity: insurance liabilities, reinsurance assets held, and deferred policyholders’ participation arising 

from “shadow accounting”. Receivables and payables related to insurance or reinsurance contracts 

were not cancelled but are included in the new measurement of insurance liabilities and assets ((see 

column entitled “Reclassifications” in the table above) 

The main impacts linked to the first-time application of IFRS 4 and IFRS 17 at 31 December 2022 are: 

 

(a) the cancellation of insurance assets and liabilities recognised under IFRS 4: 

 

• On the assets side, -EUR 6,240 million within “Investments and other assets related to 

insurance activities”: -EUR 136 million in respect of the value of the portfolios of contracts of the 

insurance companies acquired, -EUR 2,271 million linked to reinsurance assets held, -EUR 

946 million for deferred acquisition costs and -EUR 2,886 million in respect of deferred profit-

sharing arising from shadow accounting; 

 

• on the liabilities side, -EUR 221,134 million of insurance contract liabilities previously recorded 

as “Technical reserves and other insurance liabilities”. 

(b) The recognition of assets and liabilities relating to insurance contracts under IFRS 17 for +EUR 570 

million euros and +EUR 209,284 million euros respectively, including: 

 

• the best estimate of future fulfilment cash flows together with the risk adjustment and the 

contractual service margin measured in accordance to IFRS 17; 

• other assets and liabilities linked to insurance contracts (mainly policyholders’ receivables and 

payables). 

 

The methods used at transition date for the measurement of the insurance contracts are described in 

note 1.1.3 Applicable accounting standards – Transition from IFRS 4 to IFRS 17 

 

(c) The BNP Paribas Cardif Group has also applied amendments to IAS 40 and IAS 16, leading to 

measure at fair value through profit or loss the buildings held as underlying items of direct profit-

sharing contracts and recognise +EUR 1,449 million for investment real estate and +EUR 81 million 

euros for operating properties included in tangible assets. 

 

(d) The application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 results in a -EUR 413 million impact to equity attributable to 

shareholders, net of tax effect at 31 December 2022: +EUR 143 million euros for changes in value 

and adjustment of impairment of financial instruments, +EUR 1,130 million euros for the revaluation 

of investment real estate and operating properties and – EUR 1,686 million euros for assets and 

liabilities related to insurance and reinsurance contracts. 
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IFRS 9 AND IFRS 17 FIRST TIME APPLICATION IMPACTS ON “INVESTMENTS AND OTHER 

ASSETS RELATED TO INSURANCE ACTIVITIES” 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The balance sheet transition table above is presented before reclassification of assets and liabilities to 

be sold in separate aggregates under IFRS 5. 

Financial assets and liabilities of insurance entities are managed by portfolios corresponding to the 

insurance liabilities they back up or to the own funds. The business models were therefore determined 

according to these portfolios at the transition date to IFRS 9 

Under the business model and cash flow criteria, debt instruments that meet the cash flow criterion are 

largely classified according to the “collect and sale” model (and thus in market value by equity, with 

depreciation based on expected losses), except for those representing unit-linked contracts, debt 

instruments held by consolidated UCITS and managed at disposal value, which are measured at fair 

value through profit or loss. Certain specific assets are designated at fair value option through profit or 

loss and others at amortized cost. 

 

Most equity instruments are measured at fair value through profit or loss, except for certain assets 

backing own-funds and non-participating contracts portfolios, which are measured at fair value through 

equity. Non-consolidated funds classified as available-for-sale financial assets under IAS 39 have been 

reclassified at fair value through profit or loss.  

The treatment of derivatives remains unchanged, including for hedge accounting, for which the 

principles of IAS 39 continue to be applied by the Group (see note 1.5.4) 
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 SPECIFIC INFORMATION RELATED TO THE EVALUATION OF INSURANCE 

AND REINSURANCE CONTRACTS AT THE TRANSITION DATE 
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NOTE 4 

 SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION 
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The percentage of interest reflects the direct and indirect profit-sharing of the Group in the company concerned, in accordance with the presentation 
of our parent company BNP Paribas. The holding rate of structured entities is not indicated. 

(E) Consolidated. 

(EM *) Controlled entities subject to simplified consolidation using the equity method due to their insignificant nature. 
(NI) Non-integrated entities. 

(S) Deconsolidated. 

(V) Change of rates or consolidation method. 
(VM) Participation in an entity under significant influence or joint control valued at fair value through profit or loss. 
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 SIGNIFICANT RESTRICTIONS IN SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND 

ASSOCIATES 

 

The ability of entities to pay dividends or to repay loans and advances depends, inter alia, on local 

regulatory requirements for capitalisation and legal reserves, and their financial and operating 

performance.  

During 2023 and 2022, no BNP Paribas Cardif Group entity was subject to significant restrictions other 

than those related to regulatory requirements. 

 

The financial instruments pledged by BNP Paribas Cardif Group as collateral or under repurchase 

agreements are presented in the notes Transfers of financial assets (note 6.9) and Financing and 

guarantee commitments (note 6.24). 
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 MAIN MINORITY INTERESTS 

The assessment of the materiality of minority interests is based on the contribution of the relevant 

subsidiaries to the Group balance sheet and BNP Paribas Cardif Group income statement.  

In connection with the acquisition of certain entities, BNP Paribas Cardif Group granted minority 

shareholders put options on their holdings. Where these options do not correspond to a liability or are 

exercisable on the basis of fair value, they are not recognised in the balance sheet. 
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NOTE 5 

Transactions completed in 2023 

Cardif Insurance Company 

A process to dispose of the Russian subsidiary was launched from the first quarter of 2022 after the 

invasion of Ukraine by Russia. The sale agreement led to a loss of control of the Cardif subsidiary before 

the  effective date of the disposal reflected in the deconsolidation as of 30 June 2023. After getting the 

necessary approval of the local regulating authorities, the disposal finally took place in March 2024. 

Luizaseg 

Through its subsidiary NCV Participacoes Societarias S.A (holding), BNP Paribas Cardif bought back 

during the month of October the 50% owned by its partner Magazine Luiza into the Company Luizaseg. 

This led to the acquisition of control of this entity and its full consolidation. A realised gain due to the 

revaluation of the 50% previously owned by Cardif was recognised for EUR 12.8 million and  provisional 

goodwill was valued at  EUR 18 million.  

Cardif Seguros SA 

The subsidiary Cardif Seguros Vida in Argentina was disposed of to Grupo ST SA on 11 December 

2023 following the approval from the Argentinian regulator on 6 December 2023. 

Transactions completed in 2022 

Pinnacle Pet Holdings Ltd 

Following approval from the UK regulator on 17 June 2022, a partnership between JAB group and BNP 

Paribas Cardif was agreed on 30 June 2022. A new company, Pinnacle Pet Holdings Ltd was created 

at the same time as the disposal by BNPP Cardif to JAB of  Pinnacle Insurance Plc, Cardif Pinnacle 

Insurance Management Service Plc and Everypaw Ltd.   

This company is owned 70% by JAB and 30% by  BNP Paribas Cardif through Cardif Pinnacle Holding, 

with the objective of developing the fast growing Pan-European pet insurance market (“Pet”).  

As a result of this transaction, provisional goodwill was recognised.  

BNP Paribas Cardif General Insurance Co Ltd 

On 30 June 2022, BNPP Cardif General Insurance Co.Ltd was sold to Shinhan Financial Group Co.Ltd, 

one month after receiving authorisation for the disposal from the Korean local authorities. This 

transaction generated a loss on disposal of EUR 18 million.  
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NOTE 6 

 GOODWILL 

 

 

On 31st October 2023, NCVP Participações Societarias SA acquired 50% of the capital of Luizaseg 

Seguros SA, generating a provisional goodwill of EUR 18 million. 

Goodwill split by cash-generating unit is as follows: 

 

 

Goodwill valuation tests can be based on three distinct valuation methods, one based on the observation 

of transactions carried out on entities with comparable activities, the second consisting of researching 

the market parameters derived from the quotations of entities with comparable activities, finally the third 

resulting from expected future profitability (“discounted cash flow method” or DCF). 

If one of the two methods based on comparable- activities indicates the need for impairment, or in the 

absence of available market parameters, the DCF method is used.  

The DCF method is based on several  assumptions about projected revenues, expenses and capital 

requirements based on medium-term plans. 

Cash flows are projected from 5 to 10 years, on the basis of a perpetual growth rate. 

The discount rate is determined on the basis of a risk-free rate and a risk-weighted market risk premium 

specific to each country. The values of these parameters are obtained from internal and external 

information sources. 

The perpetual growth rate used is 2% for homogeneous groups of entities. 
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The level of capital is determined, for each homogeneous group, according to the required solvency 

levels as defined by the insurance regulation, in line with the capital management policies of the legal 

entities that constitute the cash-generating unit. 

 OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

The table below presents the intangible assets other than goodwill. 

 

 

 

Other intangible assets include leasehold rights, concessions, rights and patents, intangible business 

assets and intangible assets in progress acquired by BNP Paribas Cardif Group. 

The amount of depreciation and amortisation net of reversals recorded for the 2023 financial year is 

EUR 59 million, compared with a net expense of -EUR 56 million for the 2022 financial year. 

The amount of net reversals of impairment losses on intangible assets taken into profit or loss is +EUR 

0.8 million for the year 2023, compared to a net impairment of EUR 2 million for the year 2022. 

 

 INVESTMENT PROPERTY 

The “Investment Property” item corresponds to land, buildings and intangible business assets acquired 

with the properties and which are not allocated to unit-linked contracts presented under “Investments in 

Unit-linked Contracts”. This item is representative of assets invested in the life insurance business.  

 

 

The revaluation of Real Estate recognised at fair value is equal to -EUR 322 million for 2023, compared 

to -EUR 154 million in 2022. The amount of depreciation net of reversals for the 2023 financial year 

amounted to +EUR 0.6 million compared to -EUR 3.8 million for the 2022 financial year.   
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 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST 

 

 

 

As of 31 December 2023, EUR 551 million of the financial assets at amortised cost are composed of 

term deposits with credit institutions and securities deposits to be compared to EUR 528 million on 31 

December 2022. 

 

The loans and repurchase agreements amount to EUR 666 million at the end of December 2023, 

including an impairment of EUR 1 million. 

This is to be compared in 2022 with an amount of EUR 645 million, including an impairment of EUR 1 

million. 
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 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH EQUITY 

 

 

As of 31 December 2023, EUR 1,146 million of financial assets at fair value through equity are reclassified in the 

balance sheet into the line non-current assets held for sale, compared to EUR 882 million as of 31 December 2022. 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 

PROFIT OR LOSS 

This aggregate includes the financial assets and liabilities valued at fair value through profit or loss. 

 

As of 31 December 2023, EUR 837 million of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are reclassified in 

the balance sheet into the line non-current assets held for sale, compared to EUR 844 million as of 31 December 

2022. 
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The positive or negative fair value of derivative financial instruments classified in the trading portfolio 

represents the replacement value of those instruments. 

 

The fair value of derivative instruments on the assets and liabilities sides of the balance sheet breaks 

down as follows: 

 

 

These amounts correspond to the fair values of the derivative financial instruments used for hedging 

foreign exchange, as detailed in the table below: 

 

 

The notional amounts of derivative financial instruments are merely an indication of the volume of         

BNP Paribas Cardif Group’s activities in financial instruments markets, and do not reflect the market 

risks associated with such instruments.  

The table below presents the notional amounts of derivative financial instruments. 
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 DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

The principle of BNP Paribas Cardif Group is to have a single and integrated process for producing and 

monitoring the valuation of financial instruments. This process is used for a day to day risk management 

and for financial reporting purposes. All these processes are based on a common economic valuation 

which is a core component of BNP Paribas Cardif business decisions and risk management strategies. 

In its regular assessment of assets valuation, BNP Paribas Cardif Group has defined a “Level Policy” 

for allocating levels, a reference document containing the criteria to be taken into account for the 

positioning of financial instrument levels. 

 

 

As detailed in the note “Accounting principles and methods”, financial instruments at fair value are 

divided into three levels. This hierarchy is also applied to financial instruments, both assets and liabilities, 

which are recognised at amortised cost. 
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The following section provides a description of the criteria used to allocate the instruments in each level 

in the hierarchy. 

▪ Level 1: this level includes all securities and derivatives that are listed on stock exchanges or 

quoted continuously in other active markets. 

This category in particular includes liquid shares and bonds. It includes shares of funds and mutual 

funds whose net asset value is calculated daily. 

 

▪ Level 2: this level is composed of securities which are less liquid than those in the level 1. 

They are classified in level 2 notably when external prices for the same security can be 

regularly observed from a reasonable number of active market makers, but those prices do 

not represent directly quoted prices. These prices are derived in particular from the market 

consensus publication services to which active market makers contribute, as well as indicative 

prices produced by active brokers or traders.  

This category includes: 

▪ shares listed on a regulated market but whose quotation is more than weekly, 

▪ certain government or company bonds whose valuations are infrequent (less than one 

quotation per month), 

▪ shares of funds and mutual funds with a valuation at least quarterly, 

▪ derivatives on an over-the-counter market. 

 

▪ Level 3: level 3 securities consist primarily of fund shares and unlisted equities, other than 

those classified in level 2, which mainly comprise shares in venture capital companies and 

funds; 

Unlisted level 3 equities and other variable-income securities are valued using one of the following 

methods: share of revalued net assets, multiples of equivalent companies, discounting of future 

cash flows generated by the company’s business, multi-criteria approach. 

 

The information regarding the fair value of financial instruments recognised at amortised cost should be 

used and interpreted with the greatest caution for the following reasons: 

▪ these fair values are an estimate of the value of the relevant instruments at 31 December 2023. 

They are liable to fluctuate from day to day as a result of changes in various parameters, such 

as interest rates and credit quality of the counterparty. In particular, they may differ significantly 

from the amounts actually received or paid on maturity of the instrument. In most cases, the fair 

value is not intended to be realised immediately, and in practice might not be realised 

immediately; 

▪ the revaluation of financial instruments carried at historical cost often involves the use of 

valuation models, conventions and assumptions that may vary from one institution to another; 

Consequently, the comparison of the fair values presented, for financial instruments recognised 

at historical cost, by different financial institutions is not necessarily relevant. 

The valuation techniques and assumptions used ensure a consistent measure of the fair value of the 

financial assets and liabilities recognised at amortised cost within BNP Paribas Cardif Group: if prices 

listed on an active market are available, they are used to determine fair value. Otherwise, the fair value 

is determined using valuation techniques, such as discounting estimated future cash flows for loans, 
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debts and held-to-maturity financial assets, or specific cash flow models for other financial instruments. 

The fair value used for loans, debts and held-to-maturity assets with an initial maturity of less than one 

year is the recognised value. 

 

For level 3 financial instruments, the following movements occurred during the financial year: 

 

 

Transfers between levels may occur when an instrument fulfils the criteria defined in the new level, 

which are generally market and product dependent. The main factors influencing transfers are changes 

in the observation capabilities, passage of time, and events during the transaction lifetime. Transfers 

have been reflected as if they had taken place at the beginning of the reporting period. 
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 TRANSFER OF FINANCIAL ASSETS 

 

Temporary sales of securities made under repurchase agreements are included under “Transfers of 

assets that have not been derecognised”. The debt representing securities sold under repurchase 

agreements is included in the liabilities side of the balance sheet under “Liabilities due to banking sector 

companies”. 

 

 

 

Securities lending and repurchase agreements concern securities at fair value through equity. 

 

BNP Paribas Cardif Group has not carried out any significant transfers leading to partial or full 

derecognition of financial assets and a continuing involvement in them. 

 

 OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

The following tables present the amounts of financial assets and liabilities before and after offsetting. 

This information, required by IFRS 7, aims to enable the comparability with the accounting treatment 

applicable in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (US GAAP), 

which are less restrictive than IAS 32 as regards offsetting.  

“Amounts offset on the balance sheet” have been determined according to IAS 32. Thus, a financial 

asset and a financial liability are offset and the net amount presented on the balance sheet when, and 

only when, BNP Paribas Cardif Group has a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts 

and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  
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“Financial instruments given or received as collateral” include guarantee deposits and securities 

collateral recognised at fair value. These guarantees can only be exercised in case of default, insolvency 

or bankruptcy of one of the contracting parties. 
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 EQUITY METHOD INVESTMENTS 

Cumulative financial information of associates and joint ventures is presented in the following table: 

 

 

 

Securities representing insurance investments consolidated under the equity-method are presented in 

insurance activity investments. 

The carrying amount of BNP Paribas Cardif Group’s investment in the main joint ventures and 

associates is presented in the following table: 

 

 

 

BNP Paribas Cardif bought back during October through its subsidiary NCV Participacoes Societarias 

S.A the 50% owned by its partner Magazine Luiza into the Company Luizaseg. This led to the acquisition 

of control into this entity and its full consolidation. 
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 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

 

 

Revaluation of property, plant and equipment recognised at fair value is equal to -EUR 56 million for the 

2023 financial year, compared to -EUR 9 million for 2022. Excluding the depreciation of the right-of-use 

of leased buildings, the depreciation net of reversal is equal to -EUR 4 million for the 2023 financial year 

compared to net -EUR 3 million for 2022. 

 

 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND DEBTS 

 
 

As of 31 December 2023, EUR 43 million of other receivables were reclassified in the balance sheet 

into the line non-current assets held for sale compared to EUR 61 million as of 31 December 2022. 

As of 31 December 2023, EUR 58 million of other debts were reclassified in the balance sheet into the 

line non-current liabilities held for sale compared to EUR 48 million as of 31December 2022. 

 

 CAPITAL 

 

BNP Paribas Cardif's share capital amounted to EUR 149,959,051  at 31 December 2023 (unchanged 

compared to 31 December 2022). 
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Since 1 January 2016, BNP Paribas Cardif Group has been subject to the Solvency II regulation, a new 

standard for calculating the solvency coverage ratio (Directive 2009/138/EC as transposed into French 

law). 

The objective of Solvency II is: 

▪ to improve risk management systems matching them more closely with the actual risks to which 

insurance companies are exposed; 

▪ to harmonise the insurance regulatory regimes across Europe; 

▪ to strengthen the power of supervisory authorities. 

 

Solvency II is divided into three pillars: 

▪ Pillar 1: to assess solvency using what is known as an economic capital-based approach; 

▪ Pillar 2: to introduce qualitative requirements, i.e. governance and risk management rules that 

include a forward-looking approach to risk assessment. This assessment is called ORSA “Own 

Risk & Solvency Assessment”; 

▪ Pillar 3: to improve the transparency of the insurance business by making solvency the 

cornerstone of disclosures to the public and the supervisory authority. 

The BNP Paribas Cardif Group complies with this regulation both in terms of risk management and 

governance, as well as calculation and reporting. Solvency II data are available in BNP Paribas Cardif 

Group solvency and financial position report(3). 

Solvency II provides for two capital requirements:  

▪ the “Solvency Capital Requirement” (SCR); 

▪ the “Minimum Capital Requirement” (MCR) or, for groups, Group Minimum SCR.  

The SCR is the level of own funds required to absorb a series of significant losses after accounting for 

the correlation between risks. It is calibrated to cover such an event with a probability of occurrence of 

once in every 200 years within a one-year horizon “Value at Risk” of 99.5%. BNP Paribas Cardif Group 

SCR is evaluated using the standard formula.  

The Capital Management Policy of BNP Paribas Cardif Group aims in particular to ensure that the 

prudential solvency requirements are met, to cover at least 100% of the SCR defined within the scope 

of the ORSA assessment and to structure own funds so that the best balance can be found between 

the share capital, subordinated debt and other own funds elements, complying with the limits and levels 

laid down by regulations. 

 

 FINANCING DEBTS 

 

BNP Paribas Cardif Group’s financing debts consist solely of subordinated debt valued on the balance 

sheet at their nominal amount. 

 

 

(3) See corporate website https://www.bnpparibascardif.com 
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On 20 September 2023, Cardif Life Insurance Japan redeemed a subordinated note with a nominal 

value of EUR 11 million with a maturity of 10 years purchased by a third-party outside from the BNPP 

Group. 

 

On 28 March 2022, Cardif Assurances Risques Divers redeemed a Redeemable Subordinated Note 

(RSN) with a nominal value of EUR 200 million and a maturity of 10 years purchased by BNP Paribas 

on 28 June 2016. 

 

On 28 March 2022, Cardif Assurance Risques Divers issued a Redeemable Subordinated Note (RSN) 

with a nominal value of EUR 200 million and a maturity of 10 years. This RSN was purchased by BNP 

Paribas Cardif.  

 

On 28 March 2022, Cardif Assurance Vie redeemed a Redeemable Subordinated Note (RSN) with a 

nominal value of EUR 650 million and a maturity of 10 years. This RSN was purchased by BNP Paribas 

Cardif on 27 September 2016.  

 

On 28 March 2022, Cardif Assurance Vie issued a Redeemable Subordinated Note (RSN) with a 

nominal value of EUR 650 million and a maturity of 10 years. This RSN was purchased by BNP Paribas 

Cardif.  

 

On 28 March 2022, BNP Paribas Cardif issued a Redeemable Subordinated Note (RSN) with a nominal 

value of EUR 850 million and a maturity of 20 years. This RSN was purchased by BNP Paribas Cardif. 
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On 15 December 2022, Cardif Lux Vie issued a Redeemable Subordinated Note (RSN) with a nominal 

value of EUR 130 million and a maturity of 10 years. This RSN was purchased by each one of its 

shareholders up to their share of equity, respectively BNP Paribas Cardif for 67% and BGL for 33%. 

 

 

 

 

This includes foreign currency borrowings to cover equity investments in subsidiaries outside the Euro 

zone. 

 

 MOVEMENTS IN THE OPENING AND CLOSING BALANCES OF THE 

CARRYING AMOUNTS OF INSURANCE CONTRACTS ISSUED AND 

REINSURANCE CONTRACTS HELD 

 

 

 

 

As of 31 December 2023, EUR 1,839 million of insurance and investment contracts on liability side are 

reclassified in the balance sheet into the line non-current liabilities held for sale compared to EUR 1,657 

million in 2022. The insurance and investment contracts on the asset side are reclassified in 2023 into 

the line non-current assets held for sale for EUR 2.4 million compared to EUR 11.1 million in 2022. 
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 MOVEMENTS IN THE OPENING AND CLOSING BALANCES OF THE 

CARRYING AMOUNTS OF INSURANCE CONTRACTS ISSUED AND 

REINSURANCE CONTRACTS HELD NOT VALUED USING THE PREMIUM 

ALLOCATION METHOD BY CONTRACT VALUATION COMPONENT 

 

 
 

(1) The contracts initially recognised during the period valued under the variable fee model correspond to a lump sum allocation of the closing 
contractual service margin equal to the portion of outstandings relating only to initial payments of new contracts for the period, compared to the 
balance of technical provisions. 
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   PREVISIONAL SCHEDULE OF THE DEPRECIATION AMORTISATION OF 

THE CONTRACTUAL SERVICE MARGIN 

 

The below schedule shows the amortisation of the contractual services margin still to be recognised in 

profit or loss for the insurance contracts valued with the general model as well as for saving life contracts 

valued with the variable fee approach model. For the later the over return of invested assets is included 

into the calculation compared a neutral risk scenario. 

 

 

 

 

 

   OCCURRENCE OF CLAIMS 

The table below shows changes in claims reserves, from their initial valuation at claims' occurrence 

through to the financial year in which their cost uncertainty was removed. This period cannot exceed ten 

years. 

However, given the nature of the guarantees granted to BNP Paribas Cardif, the uncertainty horizon 

chosen does not exceed five years. 
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   COMPOSITION OF THE UNDERLYING ITEMS AND FAIR VALUE OF 
CONTRACTS WITH DIRECT PROFIT-SHARING FEATURES 

 

 
 

The invested assets listed above represent the assets owned directly by the main life entities as follows:  

Cardif Assurance Vie, Cardif Luxembourg Vie, Cardif Assurance Vie Taiwan branch, Cardif Retraite, 

Cardif Vita in Italy including the investment entities which are owned by those entities. 

   PROVISIONS FOR CONTINGENCIES AND CHARGES 

 

 
 

 

   LIABILITIES DUE TO BANKING SECTOR COMPANIES 
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   MATURITIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 

 

   FINANCING AND GUARANTEE COMMITMENTS 
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NOTE 7 

 FINANCIAL RESULT 
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  110 

 INSURANCE REVENUE 

 

 
 

 EFFECTS OF CONTRACTS INITIALLY RECOGNISED DURING THE 

FINANCIAL YEAR 
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 RECONCILIATION OF EXPENSES BY FUNCTION AND BY TYPE 

 

 

Acquisition costs of the period are deducted from the total of expenses in order to be reclassified as a 

decrease in the insurance liabilities (contractual service margin or projected premiums) and amortised 

over the coverage duration of the contracts. 

 OTHER NON-CURRENT OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSES 

In 2023, other non-current operating income and expenses correspond mainly to the gain on the 

disposal of Cardif Seguros SA in Argentina and the remeasurement at fair value of the Group's 

previously held interest in Luizaseg in Brazil. In 2022, other non-current operating income and expenses 

corresponded to the capital gain on the disposal of Pinnacle Insurance in Great Britain, to the capital 

gain on the sale of Cardif GI in Korea, to the provisions for contingencies of Cardif Insurance Company 
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in Russia plus the recognition of the hyperinflation impact in Turkey. (Application of IAS 29 as of 1 

January 2022).  

 

 FINANCING EXPENSES 

 

 
 

Financing expenses are equal to EUR 578 million in 2023 compared to EUR 240 million in 2022. This 

increase is mainly explained by the increase in interest rates. 

 CORPORATE INCOME TAX 

 

 
 

The deferred tax assets recognised in respect of tax loss carry forwards generated in 2023 stood at 

EUR 51 million compared to EUR 10 million in 2022. 
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NOTE 8 

 SALARIES AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE 

 

 POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 

IAS 19 distinguishes between two categories of plans, each of which is treated differently depending on 

the risk borne by the company. When the company's commitment consists solely of paying a defined 

amount (expressed as a percentage of the beneficiary's annual salary, for example) to an external 

organisation, which ensures the payment of benefits according to the assets available to each participant 

in the plan, it is qualified as a defined contribution plan. On the other hand, when the commitment 

consists of the company managing the financial assets financed by the collection of contributions from 

employees and assuming the cost of the benefits itself - or guaranteeing the final amount subject to 

future contingencies - it is qualified as a defined benefit plan. The same applies if the company mandates 

an external body to manage the collection of contributions and the payment of benefits, but retains the 

risk associated with the management of the assets and/or the future development of benefits. 

   

BNP Paribas Cardif Group has implemented over the past few years a voluntary campaign of converting 

defined-benefit plans into defined-contribution plans. 

Thus, in France, BNP Paribas Cardif Group pays contributions to various nationwide basic and top-up 

pension schemes. BNP Paribas Cardif and certain subsidiaries have set up a funded pension plan under 

a company-wide agreement. Under this plan, employees will receive an annuity on retirement in addition 

to the pension paid by nationwide schemes. 

The amounts paid into defined-contribution post-employment plans for the 2023 financial year are 

EUR 28 million, compared with EUR  29 million for the 2022 financial year. 
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The breakdown by major contributors is determined as follows: 

 

 

 

Defined-benefit pension plans were all closed to new entrants and transformed into additive-type plans. 

The amounts allocated to residual beneficiaries, subject to their presence within BNP Paribas Cardif 

Group at retirement, were fixed when these schemes were closed. These pension plans were 

outsourced to insurance companies. 

BNP Paribas Cardif Group employees receive various other contractual post-employment benefits, such 

as indemnities payable on retirement, determined according to minimal legal requirements (Labour 

Code, collective agreements) or according to specific company-level agreements. 

In France, the obligations for these benefits are funded through a contract held with a third-party insurer. 

At 31 December 2023, this obligation was 62% covered by financial assets, compared with 69% at 

31 December 2022.  

Outside France, the gross obligations related to these other benefits correspond to vested rights until 

31 December 2006, as the plans have been transformed, since that date, into a defined-contribution 

plan. 

The French Act of 14 April 2023 modified the criteria for the age and the number of quarters necessary 

to activate the rights for retirement. The provisions of this Act were taken into consideration for 

accounting under IFRS, with an impact decreasing the value of the commitments equal to EUR 

0.43 million. 
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Range of interest rates 

For the Euro zone, BNP Paribas Cardif Group discounts its obligations using the yield of high-quality 

corporate bonds, with a term consistent with the duration of the obligations. 

The ranges of rates used are as follows: 

 

 

For the Euro zone, the average discount rate observed was 3.28% at 31 December 2023 compared to 

3.50% at 31 December 2022. 
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Impact of a change in discount rates on the present value of post-employment benefit 

obligations  

The impact of a 100 bp change in discount rates on the present value of post-employment benefit 

obligations is as follows: 

 

 

Inflation rate 

The inflation assumption used to calculate the group’s obligations is centrally determined. 

The average inflation rate weighted by the value of obligations in the euro zone is 2.31% for the year 

ended 31 December 2023, compared to 2.22% for the year ended 31 December 2022. 

The impact of a 100 bp increase in inflation rates on the value of post-employment benefit obligations is 

as follows:  

 

 
 
The effects of the changes in inflation rates and discount rates shown above are not cumulative. 

 

 

 

BNP Paribas Cardif Group has put in place a strict governance around the management of assets 

backing the post-employment obligations with defined-benefit characteristics with the main objective of 

supervising and controlling the investment risk. 

This management policy details among other the principles guiding the investments, in particular the 

definition of an investment strategy for coverage assets based on financial objectives and the 

supervision of those to detail the way in which the coverage assets have to be managed, within the 

delegated assets management mandates for financial monitoring. 
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The investment strategy foresees an asset liability management study to be run at least every 3 years 

for the assets plans with a total asset value over EUR 100 million and regularly for the assets plans 

between EUR 20 and 100 million. 

 OTHER LONG-TERM BENEFITS 

BNP Paribas Cardif Group offers its employees various long-term benefits, which may include long-

service awards and the ability to save up paid annual leave in time savings accounts.  

The net corresponding provision amounted to EUR 43 million at 31 December 2023 compared to 

EUR 34 million at 31 December 2022. 

Annual deferred compensation plans are set up for certain employees whose contribution to the 

performance of BNP Paribas Cardif Group is significant or pursuant to special regulatory frameworks. 

Under these plans, payment of variable compensation is deferred over time and is subject, if applicable, 

to performance conditions for BNP Paribas Cardif Group. 

Since 2013, BNP Paribas has introduced a Group loyalty scheme with a cash payment, at the end of a 

three-year vesting period, which fluctuates according to the Group’s intrinsic performance. The aim of 

this loyalty scheme is to make different categories of managerial staff partners in BNP Paribas Group’s 

development and profitability objectives. These personnel are representative of BNP Paribas Cardif 

Group’s talent and its managerial framework i.e.: senior managers, managers in key positions, line 

managers or experts, high-potential managers, high-performing young executives with good career 

development prospects, and key contributors to BNP Paribas Group results. 

The amounts granted under this plan are 80% indexed to the BNP Paribas Group's operating 

performance over the entire term of the plan, and 20% indexed to the achievement of the BNP Paribas 

Group's Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) objectives. These objectives, of which there are 10, are 

in line with the 4 pillars forming the basis of the BNP Paribas Group's CSR policy. In addition, the final 

payment is subject to a condition of continuous presence in the BNP Paribas Group between the grant 

date and the payment date, provided that BNP Paribas Group's operating income and pre-tax income 

in the year preceding the payment are strictly positive. 

 

 

  



 

 

  120 

The net obligation related to BNP Paribas Cardif Group's variable compensation plans and loyalty 

schemes amounts to EUR 9.1 million at 31 December 2023 compared to EUR 9.4 million at 31 

December 2022. 

 

 
 

 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 

As part of the variable compensation policy implemented within BNP Paribas, annual deferred 

compensation plans established for the benefit of certain employees, whose contribution to the 

performance of the BNP Paribas Cardif Group is significant, or in application of specific regulatory 

provisions, provide for variable compensation over a multi-year period and payable in cash indexed to 

the increase or decrease in the BNP Paribas share price, the payment being deferred over several years. 

Expense of share-based payments  
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NOTE 9 

 BNP PARIBAS CARDIF GROUP INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM 

 

The Executive Management of the BNP Paribas Cardif Group has set up an internal control system, 

whose main aim is to ensure the overall control of risks and provide reasonable assurance that the 

Company's goals in this area will being achieved. 

The implementation of this control system relies on three levels: 

▪ the operational entities are the first line of defence and implement the risk control framework for 

the activities under their responsibilities.  

▪ functions exercising second-level control define the general normative framework under which 

they perform risk management and are responsible for the supervision of its current 

implementation.  

▪ the third line of defence notably ensures the audit of the efficiency and the quality of permanent 

control process. 

The BNP Paribas Cardif’s Internal Control and operational risk management policy, used on the basis 

of the BNP Paribas Group's internal control charter, specifies the scope of this system and is the 

reference base for internal control. It aims to contain operational risk within acceptable limits through 

actions to reduce, transfer or avoid risks while maintaining a balance between the risks taken and the 

cost of the management system. It is the deployment for BNP Paribas Cardif of the internal control policy 

of the BNP Paribas Group, and recalls first of all the objectives of internal control which aim to ensure: 

▪ the development of a risk culture among employees; 

▪ the effectiveness and quality of the Company's internal operations; 

▪ the reliability of internal and external information; 

▪ the security of transactions ; 

▪ compliance with applicable laws, regulations and internal policies. 

The policy then lays down the rules relating to the organisation, lines of responsibility and remit of the 

various players involved in internal control, and establishes the principle that the different control 

functions (primarily Internal Audit, Compliance, Legal, Actuarial and Risk Management) must operate 

independently. 

 

One of the fundamental principles of internal control is that it must be exhaustive in scope: it applies to 

risks of all kinds, to all activities and to all entities fully or jointly controlled by BNP Paribas Cardif. It also 

extends to core services or essential operational activities that have been outsourced, in accordance 

with regulatory requirements. 
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BNP Paribas Cardif’ internal control system is based on BNP Paribas values and the code of conduct 

as well as the principles of the following additional actions: 

▪ clearly identified responsibilities: internal control is the responsibility of every employee, 

irrespective of their seniority or responsibilities. The exercise of a managerial function carries 

the additional responsibility of ensuring the proper implementation of the internal control system 

within the scope subject to regulation; 

▪ a structured risk identification, assessment and management system (involving, among others, 

a decision-making system, delegation, organisational principles, controls, reporting and alert 

mechanism, etc.);  

▪ control and oversight that is independent of risk: the heads of the operational activities have the 

ultimate responsibility for those risks created by their activities, and as such, the foremost 

responsibility of implementing and operating a system that identifies, assesses and manages 

risk. The internal control system provides for mandatory intervention, and as early as possible, 

of functions exercising independent control under a second level of control. This intervention 

takes the following forms:  

▪ defining the overall normative framework for risk identification, assessment and 

management, 

▪ defining cases where a second prior review by a function exercising a second-level control 

shared with the operational entity is necessary for decision-making,  

▪ independent controls, called second-level controls, carried out by said function on the 

system implemented by the heads of the operational activities and on their operation (result 

of the risk identification and assessment process, relevance and conformity of the risk 

control systems and in particular, compliance with the limits set); 

▪ separation of duties: it is a key element of the risk control system. It consists of assigning certain 

operational tasks that contribute to the performance of a single process to stakeholders at 

various hierarchical levels or to separate these tasks by other means, in particular by electronic 

means;  

▪ proportionality of risks: the internal control system must be implemented under an approach and 

with an intensity that is proportionate to the risks involved. This proportionality is determined 

based on one or more criteria:  

▪ risk intensity, 

▪ amount of allocated capital and/or ratios in terms of solvency, 

▪ complexity of the products designed or marketed and/or services provided; 

▪ appropriate governance: the internal control system is subject to governance involving the 

different stakeholders and covering the various aspects of internal control, both organisational 

and monitoring and oversight;  

▪ requirement for formalisation and traceability: internal control relies on the instructions of 

Executive Officers, written policies and procedures and audit trails. The related controls, their 

results, their implementation and the feedback from the entities to the higher levels of the 

group’s governance are documented and traceable;  

▪ duty of transparency: all employees, irrespective of their position, have a duty to communicate, 

in a transparent manner, that is, spontaneously and promptly, to a higher level within the 

organisation to which they belong:  

▪ any information required for a proper analysis of the situation of the entity in which the 

employee operates, and which may impact the risks or the reputation of the entity or the 

group,  
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▪ any question that the employee could not resolve independently in the performance of his 

duties, 

▪ any anomaly of which he becomes aware. 

In addition, he or she has a duty to alert, under the protection of confidentiality, as provided for 

by the BNP Paribas Group code of conduct and exercised within the framework of the 

whistleblowing system established by Compliance;  

▪ continuous adaptation of the system in response to changes: the internal control system must 

be actively managed by its various stakeholders. This adjustment in response to changes of 

any kind that the BNP Paribas Group must face must be done according to a periodic cycle 

defined in advance but also continuously as soon as events so justify.  

Compliance with these principles is verified on a regular basis, in particular through assignments carried 

out by the periodic control teams (Internal Audit). 

 

BNP Paribas Cardif’s internal control system is organised around three lines of defence, under the 

responsibility of Executive Officers and under the oversight of the Board of directors.  

Permanent control is the ongoing implementation the risk management system and is provided by the 

first two lines of defence. Periodic control, provided by the third line of defence, is an audit and 

assessment function that is performed according to its own audit cycle. 

The functions exercising the second and third lines of defence are so-called functions exercising 

independent control. With respect to Compliance, Risk, Actuarial and Internal Audit functions, they report 

on the performance of their duties to the Board of directors or to its specialised committees. 

Discussions between permanent control and periodic control regularly takes place to enhance the flow 

of information, to coordinate each action and to improve the efficiency of internal oversight in strict 

compliance with the independence of periodic control. 
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 BNP PARIBAS CARDIF GROUP RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM 

Risk management is a process that allows to identify, gauge, monitor, manage and report on the risks 

arising from both outside the BNP Paribas Cardif Group and intrinsically from within. The objective is to 

guarantee the solvency, the continuity of business and the development of the BNP Paribas Cardif group 

under satisfactory conditions of risk and profitability.  

Within the provision of article L354-2 of the French Insurance Code, the BNP Paribas Cardif group 

conducts a forward looking assessment of its solvency and risks every year under the Solvency II 

framework, in particular: 

▪ the definition and evaluation of capital requirement specific to the risk profile; 

▪ the level of capital that the BNP Paribas Cardif Group wishes to hold to cover this specific 

requirement; 

▪ the forward-looking solvency ratios under the medium-term plan; 

▪ the resilience of these ratios in stress tests cases. 

Depending on the observed solvency ratios and the forecasts made under ORSA (Own Risk and 

Solvency Assessment), remedial actions may be undertaken to adjust own capital. 

 

The risk typology adopted by the BNP Paribas Cardif Group is changing in pace with methodological 

work and regulatory requirements. It is presented according to the main categories as follows: 

 

▪ underwriting risk is the risk of a financial loss caused by a sudden, unexpected increase in 

insurance claims compared to the priced risk that may result from inadequate pricing or 

provisioning assumptions due to internal or external factors, including sustainability risks. 

Depending on the type of insurance business (life, non-life), it may be statistical, 

macroeconomic or behavioural, or may be related to public health issues or disasters. 

▪ market risk is the risk of a financial loss arising from adverse movements of financial markets. 

These adverse movements are notably reflected in prices (foreign exchange rates, bonds, 

equity and commodities, derivatives, real estate, etc.) and derived from fluctuations in interest 

rates, credit spreads, volatilities and correlations. 

▪ liquidity risk is the risk of being unable to fulfil current or future foreseen or unforeseen cash 

requirements coming from insurance commitments to policyholders, because of an inability to 

sell assets in a timely manner, and at an acceptable cost without a significant impact on market 

prices; and / or get access to alternative financing instruments in a timely manner; 

▪ credit risk is the risk of loss or adverse change in the financial situation resulting from the credit 

quality of issuers of securities, counterparties and any debtors to which the BNP Paribas Cardif 

Group is exposed as a counterparty. Among the debtors, risks related to financial instruments 

(including the banks in which the BNP Paribas Cardif group holds deposits) and risks related to 

receivables generated by the underwriting activities (premium collection, reinsurance recovering, 

etc.) are divided into two categories: asset credit risk and liabilities credit risk. 

▪ operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from the inadequate or failed internal processes, 

information systems, IT failure, or from external events, whether deliberate, accidental or natural. 

It includes legal, tax and compliance risks, but excludes risks arising from strategic decisions 

and reputational risks. 

 

The BNP Paribas Cardif Group is exposed mainly to credit, underwriting, and market risks. The 

BNP Paribas Cardif Group closely monitors its exposures and profitability, taking into account these 
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various risks and the adequacy of its capital with regard to regulatory solvency requirements. It 

endeavours to contain potential losses in adverse scenarios at acceptable levels. 

 

 MARKET RISK 

Market risk arises mainly in the Savings business, where technical reserves represent most of the BNP 

Paribas Cardif group insurance subsidiaries liabilities. 

Interest rate risk management for the general insurance funds and the asset diversification policy have 

driven investment in real estate assets, equities and fixed- or floating-income securities, including 

government bonds particularly in the Eurozone countries. 

BNP Paribas Cardif Group manages EUR 158.3 billion in net carrying amount and fair value, mainly in 

its subsidiaries in France, including Cardif Assurance Vie with EUR 127.7 billion, in Italy, including Cardif 

Vita with EUR 18.5 billion and in Luxembourg Cardif Lux Vie with EUR 7.9 billion.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Market risk falls into four categories: 

▪ interest rate risk; 

▪ liquidity risk; 

▪ spread risk ; 

▪ change in the value of assets. 

 

Euro funds in underwritten life insurance policies are measured based on either a contractual fixed rate 

or a variable rate, with or without a minimum guaranteed return. All these policies give rise to an interest 

rate and asset value risk, corresponding to the risk that the return on admissible assets is less than the 

contractual return payable to policyholders or return payable defined in consideration of the market 

expectations and the positioning of the market players. In France, the average rate guaranteed by Cardif 

Assurance Vie in 2023 is below 0.1%. 
  

Net book value Fair value Net book value Fair value

 Shares and variable income securities 

(including vehicules for collective investments) 
44 866                        44 866                                      39 580                    39 580

 Investments properties 7 266                         7 266                                          8 044                      8 044

  including buldings 4 136                                   4 136                                                           4 453                               4 453

  including real estate companies 3 130                                   3 130                                                           3 591                               3 591

 Governement bonds and similar 45 544                        45 544                                      47 324                    47 324

  Others bonds 57 051                        57 051                                      55 676                    55 676

 Derivatives and other 3 540                         3 539                                          3 493                      3 492

 Total financial assets without unit linked 

assets 
158 267                      158 266              154 117                     154 116                  

In millions of euros

December, 31 2023 December, 31 2022 
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Liquidity risk with a 24-month horizon is managed by the Asset Management Department. Asset-liability 

matching analyses over the medium to long term are also carried out regularly by Asset-Liability 

Management teams in order to supplement the control of the financial risks incurred. They are based 

on medium- and/or long-term income statement and balance sheet projections prepared using a range 

of economic scenarios. The results of these reviews are analysed in order to determine any adjustments 

to required asset allocation constraints (through strategic allocation, diversification, use of derivatives, 

etc.). 

Stress tests are performed as part of the Asset Liability Management (ALM). They allow to check the 

capacity of BNP Paribas Cardif as a group to honour its commitments in harsh financial markets 

conditions, by taking into account the impact on the behaviour of insureds in such situations. 

Most recent sensitivity analyses proved that the main general funds included assets with sufficient 

liquidity. 

The table below details the provisional maturity of the present value of future cash-flows. 

 
 
 

 
The table below details the components of insurance liabilities outside the simplified model recognised 
in the financial statements.  
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On the balance sheet for the BNP Paribas Cardif Group between profit-sharing and non- profit-sharing 

contracts, as well as the corresponding surrender values (amounts payable on demand). 

 

Limits by issuer and rating type (Investment Grade, non-Investment Grade) are monitored regularly. 

Issuer credit quality is also reviewed frequently. 
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The sensitivity impacts applied to financial assets are presented globally. The neutralisation of changes 

in the value of financial assets by liabilities for savings contracts valued using the variable fee method 

is virtually perfect, with no real effect on equity or income. The option of reclassifying to equity the change 

in liabilities linked to the fair value of underlying investments that are not marked to market or to the 

model through profit or loss for protection contracts valued using the general model transfers the effect 

of changes in interest rates to equity. Only the liabilities of non-profit-sharing contracts and shareholders' 

equity are affected by changes in the value of representative assets. 
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The table below presents impacts before tax: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

(1) Excluding investments in representation of unit-link contracts. 

The sensitivity was calculated for the largest contributing countries, i.e. France, Italy and Luxembourg. 

 UNDERWRITING RISK 

Underwriting risk arises mainly from the surrender, the longevity and the mortality risk in the savings 

business line, and in creditor insurance contracts for the protection business. There are three types of 

underwriting risk.

 

Savings contracts include a surrender clause allowing policyholders to request reimbursement of all or 

part of their accumulated savings. The insurer is thus exposed to the risk of surrender volumes being 

higher than the forecasts used for ALM purposes, leading to potential capital losses on asset disposals 

needed to finance excess surrenders.  

BNP Paribas Cardif adopted a monitoring framework and tools to reduce the surrender risk: 

▪ expected short-, medium- and long-term liability flows are regularly estimated and any liquidity 

gaps with expected asset flows are identified and controlled in order to reduce the risk of large 

scale instant asset disposals. Changes in assets and liabilities are projected over periods of 

up to forty years, in order to identify cash flow mismatches and over or under covered 

maturities giving rise to a liquidity risk. These analyses are then used to determine the choice 

of maturities for new investments and the assets to be sold. 

▪ the guaranteed revaluation of policies is completed by a participating benefit feature, partly 

discretionary, that raises the total return to a level in line with market benchmarks and reduces 

the risk of an increase in surrenders. The policyholders’ surplus reserve is the mechanism in 

France that enables the surplus actually paid out to be pooled and spread between 

generations of policyholders and to manage the performance of contracts over time ;the return 

on financial assets may be protected through the use of hedging instruments. 

Average redemption rates for BNP Paribas Cardif Group general funds stood in France at 7.9% 

(compared to 6.7% in 2022), in Italy at 21.1% (compared to 9.4% in 2022) and in Luxembourg at 23.8% 

(compared to 22.5% in 2022). 
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The insurer’s liabilities are covered by the assets held, which are used as a valuation reference. The 

consistency of this coverage is controlled on a monthly basis. 

Certain unit-linked commitments provide for the payment of a death benefit at least equal to the 

cumulative premiums invested in the contract, whatever the conditions on the financial markets at the 

time of the insured’s death. The risk on these contracts is both statistical (probability of a claim) and 

financial (market value of the units).

The capital guarantee is generally subject to certain limits. In France, for example, most contracts limit 

the guarantee to one year (renewable annually), an age limit of 80 years old to benefit from the 

guarantee and a maximum of EUR 1 million per person insured. 

The minimum coverage reserve, included in liabilities for the remaining coverage, is (re)assessed every 

quarter and takes into account the probability of death, based on a deterministic scenario, and stochastic 

analyses of changing financial market prices. The reserve amounted to EUR 4.9 million at 31 December 

2023 (compared to EUR 18.9 million at 31 December  2022). 

 

These risks result mainly from the sale of creditor insurance, as well as activities as individual death and 

disability, extended warranty, theft, accidental damage, third party liability, annuity policies in France, 

and health, with geographic coverage in many countries. 

Creditor insurance mainly covers death, disability, critical illness, work disability, loss of employment 

and financial loss risks for revolving credit, personal loans and mortgage loans. The insurance book 

comprises a very large number of policies representing low risks and low premiums. Margins depend 

on the size of the insurance book, effective pooling of risks and tight control of administrative costs. The 

term of these contracts is usually equal to the term of the underlying loan and the premium is either 

deducted once upon issuance of the policy (single premium) or deducted regularly throughout the term 

of the policy (regular or periodic premiums). 

Other contracts (individual death and disability, extended warranty, theft, accidental damage, and 

annuity policies in France, civil liability, health) are either for personal risk (death, accidental death, 

hospitalisation, critical illness, healthcare expenses) or property & casualty risk and/or responsibilities 

(accidental damage, breakdown or theft of consumer goods or vehicles, civil liability, etc.). The individual 

sums insured under these contracts are generally low, whether they are indemnities or lump sum 

payments. 

 

Lastly, principally through its expanding entity, Cardif IARD in France, automobile  contracts (material 

damage, civil liability, car assistance) and comprehensive household coverage are also underwritten. 

This type of insurance coverage is also developing in the international market, namely in Latin America. 

 

The governance set up to prevent and control actuarial risks in France and internationally is based on 

guidelines and tools that describe the principles, rules, methods and best practices to be followed by 
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each actuary throughout the policies’ life cycle, the tasks to be performed by the actuaries and their 

reporting obligations. It also sets out the practices that are excluded or that are allowed only if certain 

conditions are met. 

Risks underwritten must comply with delegation limits set at various local and central levels depending 

on the estimated maximum acceptable losses, the estimated Solvency II capital requirements and the 

estimated margins on the policies concerned. The experience acquired in managing geographically 

diversified portfolios is used to regularly update risk pricing databases comprising a wide range of criteria 

such as loan type for creditor insurance, the type of guarantee and the insured population, etc. Each 

contract is priced by reference to the profitability and return-on-equity targets set by the Executive 

Management of the BNP Paribas Cardif group. 

Reinsurance is a complementary element of the underwriting risk management system. Its objective is 

to protect the BNP Paribas Cardif group against three main risks: 

▪ the so-called “peak” risk from exposure to an individual risk exceeding a certain threshold, 

called “retention”. The peak risk can be managed by reinsurance which may take the form of 

surplus or excess of loss treaties; 

▪ the so-called “claim accumulation” risk, which corresponds mainly to the disaster risk 

associated with exposure to a single low occurrence event, but very strong financial impact 

(concentration risk). This risk can be reinsured in the form of a catastrophe excess of loss 

treaty; 

▪ risk on new products, linked to insufficient mutualisation, wrong definition of the technical 

databases or uncertainty over the insured portfolio data. This risk can be reinsured in the form 

of quota share, stop loss or excess of loss treaties, depending on the levels of risk identified. 

Risk exposures are monitored periodically by the Executive Committee of the BNP Paribas Cardif group 

through the Commitment Monitoring Committees that are based on a two-pronged approach:

▪ quarterly monitoring of loss ratios at each accounting quarter end; 

▪ supplemented by monitoring of the portfolio characteristics according to a schedule based on 

the type of product (monthly, quarterly or annually). 

Contract pricing for annuity contracts is based on mortality tables applicable under insurance 

regulations, adjusted in some cases by portfolio-specific data which is certified by independent 

actuaries. The result is a low annuity risk. 

Underwriting risks are covered by various reserves in accordance with IFRS 17: 

▪ a reserve for the cash flows related to the future coverage period, including an adjustment for 

non-financial risks; 

▪ a reserve for the contractual service margin yet to be recognised; 

▪ a reserve for all incurred claims whether reported or not, including an adjustment for non-

financial risks. 

The level of confidence used to determinate the non-financial risk adjustment corresponds to the 70% 

quantile for the main countries. 
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Realised sensitivities assume a 5% change in surrenders over the period (up/down) and a 5% change 

in the final claims expense observed during the financial year (up/down). 

The potential impact on profit (loss) is presented gross of deferred taxes." 
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 STRUCTURED ENTITIES 

Consolidated structured entities correspond to all funds dedicated to the insurance business. These 

Fund shares are designed for the needs of the BNP Paribas Cardif Group, which is the sole investor. 

As part of the asset, allocation strategy corresponding to investments related to the premiums for unit-

linked contracts or for the General Fund, BNP Paribas Cardif Group subscribes to units of structured 

entities.  

These short- or medium-term investments are held for their financial performance and meet the risk 

diversification criteria inherent to the business. For all these investments, BNP Paribas Cardif Group 

does not act as a manager and does not have the option to interfere in the investment decisions of the 

management companies. 

At 31 December 2023, outstanding assets amounted to EUR 68,940 million compared with EUR 65,628 

million at 31 December 2022. 

 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES  

Within the meaning of IAS 24 “Related Party Disclosures”, parties are related if an entity has direct or 

indirect exclusive control or significant influence over another entity, or both entities are under the control 

or significant influence of a third-party entity or natural person. 

According to this definition, the parties related to BNP Paribas Cardif Group consist of the companies 

of BNP Paribas Group and the senior managers of BNP Paribas Cardif Group. Entities managing the 

post-employment benefit plans offered to employees (except for multi-employer and multi-industry 

schemes) are also referred to as related parties. 

 

BNP Paribas Cardif Group’s relationships with BNP Paribas Group companies mainly concern the 

marketing and management of its insurance products, its investment policy and refinancing policy. 

In some countries, BNP Paribas Cardif Group distributes a significant portion of its insurance products 

through BNP Paribas Group’s commercial networks. 

For example, BNP Paribas’ Retail Banking in France (FRB) and its international banking networks 

(including BNP Paribas Fortis in Benelux and BNL BC in Italy) are important distribution channels for 

life insurance and provident policies, and BNP Paribas Personal Finance (BNP, Cetelem brand) mostly 

markets creditor insurance contracts. 
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These commercial networks are remunerated by fees from business introducers whose rate differs 

according to the product marketed and the missions entrusted (acquisition, contract management), and 

in some cases, by a variable commission according to the results of the business underwritten, with all 

terms of remuneration being negotiated so as to apply market conditions to policyholders.  

 

BNP Paribas Cardif Group may invest the funds paid by policyholders in mutual funds (or similar funds) 

managed by the asset management entities of BNP Paribas Group, in particular BNP Paribas Asset 

Management. 

As representation of the General Fund’s commitments, BNP Paribas Cardif Group also underwrites 

negotiable debt securities issued by BNP Paribas Group. 

At 31 December 2023, these investments totalled EUR 3,416 million compared to EUR 3,556 million at 

31 December 2022. 

Finally, as part of investment hedging strategies (whether designated or not as such under IFRS), BNP 

Paribas Cardif Group transacts forward financial instruments, mainly swaps and options, for which BNP 

Paribas Group’s banking entities, mainly BNP Paribas SA, act as intermediaries to enable BNP Paribas 

Cardif Group companies to enter the market. 

 

To ensure its long-term financing, BNP Paribas Cardif Group contracts subordinated loans or issues 

subordinated securities underwritten in full by the entities of BNP Paribas Group. At 31 December 2023, 

this financing represents a total nominal value of EUR 3,292 million compared to EUR 3,284 million at 

31 December 2022. 

In connection with investments in its subsidiaries and branches, BNP Paribas Cardif Group borrows 

from the banking entities of BNP Paribas Group. At 31 December 2023, the amount of financing and 

operating borrowings contracted for this purpose amounted to EUR 4,833 million compared to EUR 

4,394 million at 31 December 2022. 

As part of the management of its General Fund and in compliance with the French Insurance Code, 

which defines the maximum amount of repurchase transactions that a French insurance company may 

carry out with its parent company, BNP Paribas Cardif Group, in particular Cardif Assurance Vie and 

Cardif Assurance Risques Divers, carries out repurchase agreements with BNP Paribas Group. At 31 

December 2023, the amount of repurchase agreements with BNP Paribas Group amounted to EUR 90 

million compared with EUR 1,241 million at 31 December 2022. 
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All of these relationships with BNP Paribas Group companies generated a net expense of                       

EUR 1,939 million in 2023, compared to EUR 1,668 million in 2022, mainly from marketing fees and 

financing expenses as well as structural expenses invoiced by BNP Paribas Group (IT services and 

back-office costs), which were partially offset by net investment income. 

 

Note 4.1 Scope of consolidation presents the list of companies consolidated by BNP Paribas Cardif 

Group. 

Transactions and outstanding amounts at the end of the period between the fully consolidated 

companies of BNP Paribas Cardif Group are fully eliminated in the preparation of the consolidated 

financial statements. 

At 31 December 2023, transactions with equity method companies in the BNP Paribas and the BNP 

Paribas Cardif Groups represent a net loss of EUR 1 million, compared to a net profit of EUR 21 million 

in 2022. 

 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

There are no significant post-closing events, known to date.  

 REMUNERATION OF SENIOR EXECUTIVES 

The total amount of remuneration awarded to the Chairman and all members of the Executive 

Committee amounts to EUR 9.72 million for 2023 versus EUR 9.64 million for 2022.  

 FEES PAID TO THE STATUTORY AUDITORS 

 
Services other than the certification of financial statements mainly include tasks related to regulatory 
requirements (Solvency 2 & IFRS 17), tax advice and due diligence in connection with disposals.  


